
Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         February 6, 2017 
 

Russell County Page 1 
 

  

RUSSELL COUNTY 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISOR’S MEETING 
 

AGENDA – FEBRUARY 6, 2017 
 
 

Board Room                Regular Meeting               6:00 PM 
 

Russell County Governmental Center 
Lebanon, Virginia 24266 

 

 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER – Clerk of the Board 
 
ROLL CALL – Clerk of the Board 
 
INVOCATION – Rick Thompson – RC Treasurer 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PRESENTATIONS (Limited to 5 minutes)…………………………………………………...A-1 
 

1. Brian Ferguson - RC Waste Management Department Operations &  
RC Transfer Station & Leachate Control DEQ Inspection Reports 
 

2. Kim Short – RC Fitness & Recreation Department Operations 
 

3. Briana Apgar - VA Health Department – Community Health Assessment (CHA) 
 

4. Kelly Hill - Blood Assurance 
 
 NEW BUSINESS 
 

1.  Approval of Minutes.  Consider approval of the minutes of the  
 following meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors………………B-1 

 
a. Unapproved minutes of January 3, 2017 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         February 6, 2017 
 

Russell County Page 2 
 

 
b. Unapproved minutes of January 20, 2017 
c. Unapproved minutes of January 25, 2017            

  
2. Approval of Expenditures. Consider approval of expenditures presented  

for payment……………………………………………………………………………...B-2 
 

CITIZEN’S COMMENT PERIOD (Limited to 3 minutes) 
 
CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICER REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 
COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 

1. RC School Board Energy Performance Finance Contract……………………….C-1 
 
COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 

REPORTS 
 

1. 2017 Richmond Legislative Meeting ………………………………………………...D-1 
 

2. NACO State of County Finances Report…………………………………………….D-2 
 

3. VA Auditor of Public Accounts Report of RC Clerk of the Circuit Court……...D-3 
 

REQUESTS 
  

4. Authorization of Property Transfer from RC School Board of the Elk  
Garden and Cleveland Elementary Schools to the Board of Supervisors…....D-4 
 

5. Authorization of the Violence Against Women’s Act……………………………..D-5 
 

6. Authorization for Public Hearing of the RC Junkyard Ordinance………………D-6 
 

7. Authorization of Travel Request………………………………………………………D-7 
 

MATTERS PRESENTED BY THE BOARD 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
COUNTY AGENCY / BOARD REPORTS: 
        

 Treasurer’s Report ………………………………………………………………………E 

 RC IDA …………………………………………………………………………………….F 

 RC PSA …………………………………………………………………………………... G 

 Castlewood W&S ………………………………………………………………………..H 

 RC Tourism………………………………………………………………………………..I 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         February 6, 2017 
 

Russell County Page 3 
 

 

 RC Planning Commission ……………………………………………………………..J 

 Conference Center………………………………………………………………………K 

 RC Fitness Center……………………………………………………………………….L 

 RC Transportation & Safety…………………………………………………………...M 

 RC Cannery Reports…………………………………………………………………….N   

 RC Community Work Program………………………………………………………..O 



                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 

Board of Supervisors Information Item A-1 
137 Highland Drive                                  Presenters - Various 
Lebanon, VA 24266                    

Meeting: 2/6/17      6:00 PM 
 

 

Presentations 
  
1. Brian Ferguson - RC Waste Management Department Operations &  

RC Transfer Station & Leachate Control DEQ Inspection Reports 
2. Kim Short – RC Fitness & Recreation Department Operations 
3. Briana Apgar - VA Health Department – Community Health Assessment (CHA) 
4. Kelly Hill - Blood Assurance 

 
Staff Recommendation: 

 
Presentation – Informational Only. 

 
Suggested Motion: 

 
No Motion Required.  

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Presentations 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





















Russell County Parks, Rec, Tourism Report 

141 Highland Dr, Lebanon VA 
Phone: 276-254-0745 

 

 

Russell County Health & Fitness 

July 2016 

 Hosted successful Clinch River Float and Open House 

 Booth at July 4th Celebration in Lebanon 

 Reached out to prospective instructors in Honaker area 

 Began advertising gift certificates 

August 2016 

 Personal training numbers on the rise 

 Record number of class participants 

 Introduced classes for youth / students 

September 

 Received donation from Rotary toward purchase of mirrors in the group fitness room 

 Key card system was ordered for 24 hour access 

October 

 Key card system delivered 

 Security system installed in preparation for 24 hour access 

 Donations in the amount of $560 for the month 

 Registered to participate in the Russell County Health Coalition Expo in November 

November 

 Key card system  active 

 Marketing push to get the word out about the 24 hour access 

 Sent flyers into the schools / county offices to increase awareness of the county 

employee discount 

December 

 Continuing to market 24 hour access through Lebanon News, social media, flyers, etc.  



 Partnered with coaching staff at Lebanon HS to offer on-site classes to their teams, in an 

effort to increase awareness of student rates, and the fitness center in general 

 

January 

 Membership increased by more than 25% during the month 

 Center being steadily utilized from 6:00 AM – 10:00 PM  

 Reaching out to local businesses for equipment donations, as current membership is 

exceeding equipment offerings 

 Sales in the amount of $19,223.91 since July 1 

 Instructor payroll in the amount of $9,928 since July 1 

 

Services and community outreach:  

 Full schedule of group fitness classes, to include yoga, Pilates, bootcamps, and more 

 Personal training services (group and individual) 

 Guided hikes / float trips / other outdoor activities 

 Partnerships with local coaching staff to offer services to high school athletes 

 Participation in local events such as Russell County Health Coalition Expo 

 Social activities for area senior citizens 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Russell County Tourism 

 

 Working with DCR on achieving scenic river status for the Clinch. Eligibility study 

scheduled for April 2017 

 Completed MLP Grant in partnership with Vincent’s Vineyard, Russell County Fair 

Association, and the Town of Lebanon 

 Completed Russell County Tourism brochure 

 Drone videos (most recently Mendota Fire Tower) reached over 26,000 on social media. 

According to Vimeo stats, an increasing number of views are coming from Russell 

County Tourism website 

 Newsletter created for local tourism related events 

 Website continues to be updated with new material, much of which has to be 

photographed and cataloged, as there isn’t any readily available information 

 Attended the Ultimate Outdoor Expo in Lexington KY in August along with Heart of 

Appalachia and Spearhead Trails, to jointly market the region 

 Researching and meeting with local property owners in an effort to increase trails in the 

county 

 Working with Nature Conservancy and other localities to identify access points on the 

Clinch 

 Wrote and was awarded the LOVEwork grant from VATC. The LOVE sign was created by 

the welding shop at the trade school 

 Planning an event to unveil the LOVE sign 

 Joined Blue Ridge Travel Association, which will help increased regional marketing and 

drive down costs 

 Working with the Tourism committee to review by laws and strategic plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





You Can Impact Your Community’s Health!

Your community has been selected as 
an area where health improvements and 
enhancements can be made through a 
process called the Community Health 
Assessment (CHA). 

What is a CHA? 

A community-driven evaluation to  
better understand life and health  
for residents in your community.  
A CHA reviews the community conditions  
where people are born, live, play, work, 
and current age.

Early Childhood 
Development

Food Availability

Public Safety

Air and Water Quality Physical Activity

COMMUNITY

Employment 
Status

Housing
Transportation

Level of 
Education

Your zip code can be more important 
than your genetic code.



Be a part of the CHA team
A core team, called The CHA Team, 
consists of community members and 
representatives from local organizations  
and agencies to help plan the assessment.  

No one organization within the community 

can address all the issues that affect health.

Participate in a Community Assessment
including focus groups, town halls, community 
meetings, and individual interviews.

VDHLiveWell.com DPE12 | 1-2017

Get Involved!Benefits of a CHA

• Improves access to health and social services
• Enhances the health of the community
• Relieves or reduces burden of other community  
  efforts through shared resources and collaboration
• Engages the community
• Provides funding (grant) opportunities

Contact your local CHA Planner for more information:____________________________________________

















 

Board of Supervisors                           Action Item B-1 
137 Highland Drive  Presenter: Chairman 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

   Meeting: 2/6/17      6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Approval of Minutes  

Request approval of the minutes from the following meeting: 

 January 3, 2017 Board Minutes 

 January 20, 2017 Board Minutes 

 January 25, 2017 Board Minutes 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s): 

Board discretion 

 

SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 

Motion to approve Board Minutes. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

 Board Minutes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



January 03, 2017 

A regular monthly meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors was held on Tuesday, January 03, 

2017 at 6:00 pm in the Russell County Government Center in Lebanon, Virginia. 

The Clerk called the meeting to order. 

Roll Call by the Clerk: 

Tim Lovelace 
Lou Wallace 
Carl Rhea 
David Eaton 
Steve Breeding 
Rebecca Dye 
Mark Mitchell 
 
Lonzo Lester, Clerk 
 
Invocation by Randy Cross, Mill Creek Baptist Church followed by the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 

approve the agenda as amended. 

The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Steve Breeding and Rebecca Dye 
Nay:  None 
 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD ON THE WATER ORDINANCE 
 
Pursuant to being advertised in a local newspaper for two (2) consecutive weeks, a public hearing was 
held on the Water Ordinance.  The Chairman opened the public hearing to comments, hearing none, the 
public hearing was closed. 
 

PRESENTATION OF A PLAQUE TO BOARD OF SUPERVISORS BY THE VFW 
 
Steve Ray and Jackie Gilbert representing the VFW Post 9864 thanked the Board of Supervisors for 
everything they have done for them in the past year.  They presented the Board with a plaque to show 
their appreciation. 
 
The Chairman relinquished the Chair to the Clerk of the Board. 
 

STEVE BREEDING ELECTED CHAIRMAN 
 
David Eaton nominated Steve Breeding. 
 
 



Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors 
that nominations cease and Steve Breeding be elected Chairman of the Board of Supervisors by 
acclamation for the CY 2017. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Carl Rhea 
Nay:  None 
 
The Clerk relinquished the Chair back to Steve Breeding. 
 

DAVID EATON ELECTED VICE CHAIRMAN 
 

Carl Rhea nominated David Eaton. 
 
Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors 
that nominations cease and David Eaton be elected Vice Chairman of the Board of Supervisors by 
acclamation for the CY 2017. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Carl Rhea 
Nay:  None 
 
 
The Chairman appointed Mark Mitchell as Director of Emergency Management and Carl Rhea as 
Assistant for CY 2017. 
 
The Chairman appointed Steve Breeding and David Eaton to the budget committee for CY 2017. 
 

APPROVAL OF BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING DATES AS PRESENTED 
 
Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the Board of Supervisors meeting dates for the first Monday of each month with alternative 
meeting dates on holidays.   Closed session will be held at 5:00 pm with the regular Board meeting to 
begin at 6:00 pm. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Carl Rhea 
Nay:  None 
 

RUSSELL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

                                                                  REGULAR MEETING SCHEDULE 
2017 

GOVERNMENTAL CENTER 6:00 P.M. 
 

January 3rd, Tuesday 

February 6th, Monday 



March 6th, Monday 

April 3rd, Monday 

          May 1st, Monday 

June 5th, Monday 

July 3rd, Monday 

July 4th, Tuesday- Holiday 

(Alternate July 10th, Monday) 

August 7th, Monday 

September 4th, Monday  

(Alternate September 5th, Tuesday or September 11th, Monday)  

October 2nd, Monday 

November 6th, Monday 

December 4th, Monday- Christmas Parade 

 

LONZO LESTER APPOINTED CLERK OF THE BOARD 
 
Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
appoint Lonzo Lester as Clerk of the Board for CY 2017. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, David Eaton, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Rebecca Dye and Steve Breeding 
Nay:  None 
 

VICKI PORTER APPOINTED DEPUTY CLERK OF THE BOARD 
 

Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
appoint Vicki Porter Deputy Clerk of the Board for CY 2017. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Mark Mitchell 
Nay: None 
 
New Business 
 

APPROVAL OF THE DECEMBER 07, 2016 MINUTES 
 
Motion made by David Eaton, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the December 07, 2016 minutes as presented and dispense with the reading thereof. 



 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Mark Mitchell 
Nay:  None 

APPROVAL OF THE DECEMBER 13, 2016 MINUTES 
 

Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second Mark Mitchell and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the December 13, 2016 minutes as presented and dispense with the reading thereof. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Mark Mitchell, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Steve Breeding and Rebecca Dye 
Nay: None 
 

APPROVAL OF THE DECEMBER 26, 2016 MINUTES 
 

Motion made by David Eaton, second Lou Wallace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the December 26, 2016 minutes as presented and dispense with the reading thereof. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, Steve Breeding and Mark Mitchell 
Nay:  None 
Abstain:  Rebecca Dye 
 

APPROVAL OF GENERAL COUNTY INVOICES 
 

Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve general county invoices in the amount of $665,685.39 (including withholdings and reoccurring). 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Mark Mitchell 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF THE PRE-AUTHORIZED PAYMENT LIST 
 
Motion made by David Eaton, second Mark Mitchell and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the pre-authorized payment list as presented:  The list of general expenditures the Board 
approves annually to ensure the County complies with the Virginia Procurement Act which requires all 
expenditures to be within 30 days or within terms of the contracts.  The expenditures are monthly 
operational expenditures or approved contracts. 
 
Utilities 
Credit Card payments 
Facility/Park/Vehicle payments (payroll) 
Debt service 
Contracts 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Mark Mitchell, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Tim Lovelace 



Nay:  None 
 
Citizens Comment  
 
The Chairman opened citizens comment period. 
 
Reggie Childers, Lebanon commented that the one word that kept coming up at the follow up meeting 
of the Southwest Virginia Economic Forum was partnering.  The whole County needs more citizen 
participation.  He also emphasized the need for access points along the Clinch River since it has been 
designated as a blue way.   All four of the towns in Russell County have passed resolutions relative to 
blue ways.   He asked the BOS to consider passing a Resolution similar to the one that Scott County 
passed that underlines the necessity of some economic actions. 
 
Kelly Gilmer, Lebanon stated that he had been to the Russell County Courthouse and feels that the 
current security measures are not a viable solution. He was disappointed that the public cannot enter 
the courthouse through the front door.  
 
Becki Joyce, Chairperson of the IDA asked to address the Board in Closed Session. 
 
The Chairman closed citizens comment period. 

 
APPROVAL OF THE WATER ORDINANCE 

 
Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the Water Ordinance as presented. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and David Eaton 
Nay: None 
 

CLOSED SESSION 

Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 

enter into closed session pursuant to Virginia code 2.2-3711 for discussion concerning a prospective 

business or industry, land acquisition, actual or probable litigation and personnel matters. 

 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding and Rebecca Dye 
Nay:  None 

APRROVAL TO RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 
 
Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
return to regular session. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, David Eaton, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Rebecca Dye and Steve Breeding 
Nay:  None 



CERTIFICATION OF CLOSED SESSION 
 

Pursuant to § 2.2-3712(D) of the Code of Virginia 1950, as amended each member of the Board of 
Supervisors upon the Roll Call certifies that to the best of their knowledge (i) only public business 
matters lawfully exempted from the open meeting requirements under the Virginia Freedom of 
Information  Act and (ii) only such public business matters that were identified in the motion(s) by which 
the closed meeting was convened were heard, discussed or considered in the meeting by the Board of 
Supervisors. 
 
Any member of the Board of Supervisors who believes that there was a departure from the 
requirements of clauses (i) and (ii) above shall so state prior to the vote, indicating the substance of the 
departure that, in his or her judgment, has taken place. 
 
Are there any who believe a departure has taken place?  Seeing none, if you agree that the matters heard, 

discussed or considered during the closed meeting were pursuant only to the motion(s) by which the 

closed meeting was convened, please signify by saying aye or yes. 

Tim Lovelace – AYE 
Lou Wallace – AYE 
Carl Rhea – AYE 
David Eaton – AYE 
Rebecca Dye - AYE 
Steve Breeding – AYE 
Mark Mitchell – AYE 
 
 
County Attorney Reports and Requests 
 
Matt Crum addressed the Board on the adoption of the County Bylaws. 

 
APPROVAL OF THE RUSSELL COUNTY BYLAWS 

 
Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second Mark Mitchell and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the Russell County Bylaws as presented with the provision that Robert’s Rules of Order will 
apply in the event that issues arise that are not addressed in the Bylaws. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Mark Mitchell, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Steve Breeding 
Nay:  None 
 
County Administrator Reports and Requests 
 

APPROVAL OF VDOT RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A SPEED LIMIT REDUCTION FOR RT. 82 
 

Motion made by Carl Rhea, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a VDOT Resolution for a speed limit reduction on Route 82. 
 
The vote was: 



Aye:  Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Mark Mitchell 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF LONZO LESTER AS FINANCIAL AGENT AND VICKI PORTER AS ALTERNATE FOR WDB 
 

Motion made by David Eaton, second Mark Mitchell and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
appoint Lonzo Lester as financial agent for the Workforce Development Board and appoint Vicki Porter 
as his alternate. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Mark Mitchell, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, Rebecca Dye and Steve Breeding 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL TO ADJOURN TO RECONVENE 
 

Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
adjourn to reconvene on Wednesday, January 25, 2017 at 6:00 pm in lobby of the Omni Hotel in 
Richmond, Virginia. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye, Steve Breeding and Lou Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 
 
 
______________________________                                                 __________________________ 
Clerk of the Board                                                                                  Chairman 



January 20, 2017 

A special called meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors was held on Friday, January 20, 2017 

at 10:00 am at the Russell County Government Center in Lebanon, Virginia. 

 

The Clerk called the meeting to order. 

Roll Call by the Clerk: 

Tim Lovelace 
Lou Wallace 
Carl Rhea 
David Eaton 
Steve Breeding 
Rebecca Dye 
Mark Mitchell 
 
Lonzo Lester, Clerk 
 
Invocation by Chairman Steve Breeding, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 

approve the agenda as presented. 

The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Tim Lovelace 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL TO CANCEL PURCHASE CONTRACT WITH L & L CONSTRUCTION CO., INC. 
 

Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
cancel the purchase contract with L & L Construction Co., Inc. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, David Eaton, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Steve Breeding and Rebecca Dye  
Nay:  None 
Abstain:  Mark Mitchell 
 
Other Board Matters 
 
Several topics were discussed including a Resolution in support of VECEDA, unsafe and dilapidated 
structures, junk yards, disposal site hours, solid waste issues and potential solutions. 
 

 
APPROVAL TO ADJOURN 

 



Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
adjourn. 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding and Rebecca Dye 
Nay:  None 
 
 
 
 

 



January 25, 2017 

An adjourned meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors was held on Wednesday, January 25, 

2017 at 6:00 pm in the lobby of the Omni Hotel in Richmond, Virginia. 

The Clerk called the meeting to order. 

Roll Call by the Clerk: 

Present: 
Tim Lovelace 
Lou Wallace 
Carl Rhea 
David Eaton 
Mark Mitchell 
 
Lonzo Lester 
 
Absent: 
Rebecca Dye 
Steve Breeding 
 
Invocation by Mark Mitchell. 
 
There were various meetings and topics discussed with agencies and legislators listed below: 
  
Delegate Kilgore, Delegate Morefield, Delegate Todd Pillion, Senator Ben Chafin, Dept. of Veterans 
Affairs, Virginia Tobacco Commission, Virginia Economic Development Partnership, Division of Mines, 
Minerals and Energy,  Dept. of Health,  Dept. of Agriculture and VACO. 
 

APPROVAL TO ADJOURN 
 

Motion made by Mark Mitchell, second Lou Wallace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
adjourn. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Mark Mitchell, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, David Eaton and Carl Rhea 
Nay:  None 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________                                     ______________________________ 
Clerk of the Board                                                                       Chairman 
 



 

Board of Supervisors Action Item B-2 
137 Highland Drive Presenter: Chairman 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

Meeting: 2/6/17  6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Approval of Expenditures 

Request approval of the County’s January 2017 Monthly Expenditures: 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):  

County’s January 2017 Monthly Expenditures are in compliance with budget and operational 

services. 

 

SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 

Motion to approve County’s January 2017 Monthly Expenditures. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

 January 2017 Monthly Expenditures 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 























                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 

    Board of Supervisors   Action Item 
137 Highland Drive                                  Presenters - Attorney 
Lebanon, VA 24266                    

Meeting: 2/6/17  6:00 PM 
 

 

County Attorney Reports 
 

1. RC School Board Energy Performance Finance Contract 
 

Staff Recommendation: 
 

Board Discretion. 
 

Suggested Motion: 
 

Motion Required.  
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 Contract 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS – (REVISED) 

December 2016 

 

The Board of Supervisors of Russell County (County) is issuing this Request for 

Proposals (RFP) to solicit bids to purchase the Taxable Qualified Energy 

Conservation Bond (Virginia SAVES Green Community Program – Russell County 

Schools Project), Series 2017 (Taxable 2017 Bond). The Taxable 2017 Bond will be 

issued by Virginia Resources Authority (VRA) on behalf of the County under the 

Virginia SAVES Green Community Program (VA SAVES) and will be payable from 

and secured primarily by the lease payments received by VRA under an equipment lease 

financing arrangement between VRA, as lessor, and the County and the Russell 

County School Board (School Board), as co-lessees. Payments by the County will be 

structured to be sufficient in amounts and at times to match the debt serviced on the 

Taxable 2017 Bond. VRA will be assign the lease to the winning proposer. Additional 

security for the Taxable 2017 Bond includes: 

 
i. A security interest in the equipment financed; and 

ii. VRA’s ability, following a default by the County, to commence 

proceedings pursuant to Section 62.1-216.1 of the Code of Virginia of 

1950, as amended, which provides the State Comptroller with the 

power to withhold all funds appropriated and payable by the 

Commonwealth of Virginia to the County and apply the amount to 

payment of the defaulted principal, premium, if any, and interest on 

the loan. This concept is commonly referred to as the “VRA State Aid 

Intercept” provision. 
 

The County’s undertaking to make lease payments will be subject to the appropriation 

by the County from time to time of amounts for such purpose. The Taxable 2017 

Bond will not carry the general obligation pledge of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

or any political subdivision thereof, including VRA, the County, and the School 

Board. The Taxable 2017 Bond, while issued by VRA, is a limited obligation of VRA, 

neither a general obligation nor a moral obligation of VRA, payable solely from 

revenues received by VRA from lease payments made by the County and the School 

Board and payments pursuant to VRA State Aid Intercept, if any.  The County and the 

School Board will consider passing resolutions making the Bond a moral obligation of 

each respective entity. 

 
VRA State Aid Intercept  

Section 62.1-216.1 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, provides the State 

Comptroller with the power to withhold all funds appropriated and payable by the 

Commonwealth of Virginia to the County and apply the amount to payment of the 

defaulted principal, premium, if any, and interest on such designated financings. This 

concept is commonly referred to as the “VRA State Aid Intercept” provision and will 



be part of the collateral package securing this financing. 

 

Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds 

The Taxable 2017 Bond is being issued as a Taxable, Direct Pay, Qualified Energy 

Conservation Bond (QECB). As such, VRA, as the issuer of these Direct Pay bonds, 

is entitled to receive cash rebates from the U.S. Department of the Treasury that , as 

a part of the financing, will be assigned to the County to subsidize their interest 

payments. 

 

Project Overview 

Trane, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Ingersoll-Rand Public Limited Company, and 

the County and School Board intend to enter an Energy Performance Contract 

(Contract) under which Trane will install specified energy conservation measures and 

equipment ( P r o j ec t )  at a number of facilities operated by the School Board and 

located within Russell County. The energy conservation measures and equipment 

(Equipment) and the facilities in which the measures are to be taken and equipment 

installed (Facilities) are reflected in the matrix below.  The cost of the Project as set 

forth in the Contract is $5,637, 000 (Contract Cost), to be repaid over a period of up 

to 20 Years (Term).  

 
The Contract will provide for guaranteed energy and operational cost savings that will 

be used by the Coun ty  and  th e  School Board to offset the cost of the financing. 

The Contract and the Taxable 2017 Bond financing will be presented for final 

approval of the School Board and  Coun t y  during their respective meeting 

scheduled in February 2017. The County and School Board desire to close on the 

financing as soon as practical thereafter. Implementation/construction of the Project 

is anticipated to take approximately n i n e  ( 9 )  months after closing on the financing. 

 
The Taxable 2017 Bond will be issued in an aggregate par amount of up to $5,637,000. 

Proceeds of the Taxable 2017 Bond will be used to finance the costs of issuance and 

Project costs, which include some or all of the following energy conservation 

measures and equipment reflected in the matrix below, as well as the Program Fee for 

VA SAVES. 

 



 

** Measures/costs/savings** 

 

Financial Information for the County 

The County’s annual financial reports and budgets can be found on the County’s 

website or otherwise by contacting the County Administrator, Lonzo Lester, at 276-889-8000 

or lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us. Additional financial information is available upon 

request. No formal offering material will be prepared, although bidders should feel free 

Building

County Wide Measures
All Schools Lighting Upgrades (limited sensors) 209,996$              2,525,168$                12.0

All Schools Water Upgrades 27,572$                 270,503$                   9.8

All Schools Building Envelope 31,792$                 228,738$                   7.2

Boiler Upgrades
Swords Creek Elementary Steam Boiler Replacement 1,250$                   197,249$                   

Copper Creek Elementary Steam Boiler Replacement 1,250$                   160,568$                   

Castlewood Elementary Steam to HW Boiler Replacements 1,250$                   235,690$                   

Chiller Upgrades
Lebanon Middle Chiller Replacement 2,815$                   148,714$                   52.8

Honaker Elementary Chiller Replacement 3,790$                   186,308$                   49.2

Castlewood Elementary Chiller Replacement 2,710$                   137,214$                   50.6

Castlewood High Chiller Replacement 2,624$                   164,540$                   62.7

Lebanon Elementary Chiller Replacement 3,094$                   115,773$                   37.4

HVAC Upgrades
Honaker High

Chiller Replacement/Library HVAC 

Upgrade 14,190$                 552,194$                   38.9

Control Upgrades
Castlewood High Control Upgrades -$                       28,795$                     

Lebanon Primary Control Upgrades -$                       80,943$                     

Lebanon Elementary Control Upgrades -$                       24,315$                     

Lebanon Middle Control Upgrades -$                       24,388$                     

Honaker Café Unit Vents Controls Budget Allowance -$                       9,001$                        

Castlewood Elementary Controls Budget Allowance 1,500$                   18,001$                     12.0

Project Implementation 27,973$                     

General Conditions 44,883$                     

Design Engineering 46,708$                     

Construction Management 116,322$                   

Contract Development 25,485$                     

Measurement & Verification 10,000$                     

Audit Cost 32,000$                     

Total Project Measures 5,411,473$         

VA SAVES Program Fee 112,739$                   

Total Project Costs 5,524,212$         

Maximum Costs of Issuance 112,739$                   

Total Funding 303,833$      5,636,951$      18.6

Item Description Savings Cost
SPB 

(years)



to direct any questions about the County or its finances to the County Administrator. 

Your response to the RFP would be greatly appreciated.  The following key assumptions 

should be utilized in preparing your proposals. 

 

Key Assumptions 

Issuer / Lessor: Virginia Resources Authority (VRA) under the  

 Virginia SAVES Green Community Program (VA 

 SAVES) 

 
Co-Lessees: Russell County, Virginia 

Russel l  County Public Schools 

 
Tax Treatment: Federally Taxable, but interest will be exempted from 

Virginia income taxation. 

 

Bank Qualified: Not applicable. 

 

Obligation: Taxable Qualified Energy Conservation Bond 

(Virginia SAVES Green Community Program – 

Russell County Schools Project), Series 2017 

(Taxable 2017 Bond) 

 
Security: The Taxable 2017 Bond will be issued by VRA on 

behalf of the County under VA SAVES and will be 

secured primarily by the lease payments received by 

VRA under an equipment lease financing 

arrangement between VRA, as lessor, and the County 

and the School Board, as co- lessees. Payments by 

the County will be structured to be sufficient in 

amounts and at times to match the debt serviced on 

the Taxable 2017 Bond.  VRA will assign the lease 

to the winning proposer. Additional security for the 

Taxable 2017 Bond includes: 

 

i. A security interest in the equipment financed; 

and 

 

ii. VRA’s ability, following a default by the 

County, to commence proceedings pursuant 

to Section 62.1-216.1 of the Code of 

Virginia of 1950, as amended, which 

provides the State Comptroller with the 



power to withhold all funds appropriated 

and payable by the Commonwealth of 

Virginia to the County and apply the 

amount to payment of the defaulted 

principal, premium, if any, and interest on 

the loan. This concept is commonly 

referred to as the “VRA State Aid Intercept” 

provision. 

 

The County’s undertaking to make lease payments 

will be subject to the appropriation by the County 

from time to time of amounts for such purpose. The 

Taxable 2017 Bond will not carry the general 

obligation pledge of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

or any political subdivision thereof, including VRA, 

the County, and the School Board. The Taxable 2017 

Bond, while issued by VRA, is a limited obligation 

of VRA, neither a general obligation nor a moral 

obligation of VRA, payable solely from revenues 

received by VRA from lease payments made by the 

County and the School Board and payments pursuant 

to VRA State Aid Intercept, if any. 

 

Rating: None applied for on this financing. However, the 

County currently carries General Obligation credit 

ratings of A2 / AA / AA from Moody’s, S&P, and 

Fitch, respectively. 

 

Estimated Par Amount: Up to $5,637,000. 

 

Interest Payments Dates: Interest due annually on October 1, commencing on 

October 1 2017, until Final Maturity. 

 

Principal Payment Dates: Principal due annually on October 1, commencing 

  on October 1, 2017, until Final Maturity. 

 

 

Final Maturity: October 1, 2036 

 

Interest Rate: A fixed rate quote for the entire amortization period                            

is preferred.  If unable to commit to a fixed rate over 

the entire amortization period, please provide a fixed 

rate quote for the longest time period possible and 

specify all pertinent details relating to the rate reset, 

including the applicable index on which your quote 



will be based.  For example, to the extent that you are 

willing to commit to a twenty year amortization but 

cannot provide a fixed rate for the entire period, 

please specify the initial rate and its duration as 

well as the rate- reset information (e.g., 20 year 

amortization with an initial fixed rate for 10 Years 

and a rate reset for the remaining 10 Years). 

 

Interest will be calculated using a 30/360-day count. 

 

The County is interested in receiving rate quotes that 

are held through closing, which is expected to occur 

during the week of January 16, 2017. 

 

Amortization Structure: Estimated principal amortization schedules are 

shown below.  

 

LOAN AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE 

PMT NO 
PAYMENT 

DATE 

BEGINNING 

BALANCE 

TOTAL 

PAYMENT 

ENDING 

BALANCE 

1 10/1/2017 5,637,000 281,850 5,355,150 

2 10/1/2018 5,355,150 281,850 5,073,301 

3 10/1/2019 5,073,301 281,850 4,791,451 

4 10/1/2020 4,791,451 281,850 4,509,601 

5 10/1/2021 4,509,601 281,850 4,227,751 

6 10/1/2022 4,227,751 281,850 3,945,901 

7 10/1/2023 3,945,901 281,850 3,664,051 

8 10/1/2024 3,664,051 281,850 3,382,201 

9 10/1/2025 3,382,201 281,850 3,100,351 

10 10/1/2026 3,100,351 281,850 2,818,501 

11 10/1/2027 2,818,501 281,850 2,536,651 

12 10/1/2028 2,536,651 281,850 2,254,801 

13 10/1/2029 2,254,801 281,850 1,972,951 

14 10/1/2030 1,972,951 281,850 1,691,101 

15 10/1/2031 1,691,101 281,850 1,409,251 

16 10/1/2032 1,409,251 281,850 1,127,401 

17 10/1/2033 1,127,401 281,850 845,551 

18 10/1/2034 845,551 281,850 563,701 

19 10/1/2035 563,701 281,850 281,850 

20 10/1/2036 281,850 281,850 0 

**Amortization schedule** 

 

 



Optional Prepayment: The County prefers maximum flexibility. Please   

 specify the call structure that would provide the  

 County with the most flexibility at the lowest cost of  

 funds. Please also address (i) the need for a partial  

 prepayment if any bond proceeds are left unspent at  

 the third anniversary of the closing date (see IRC  

 Section 54A(d)(2)(B) and (ii) the possibility of a  

 partial prepayment at any other time). Section  

 54A(d)(2)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code requires  

 that any unspent bond proceeds remaining at the third  

 anniversary of the closing date must be used to  

 redeem the corresponding portion of the taxable  

 direct pay bond. The County does not anticipate any  

 unspent bond proceeds will remain at that point,  

 but the redemption provisions should permit the  

 possibility for such mandatory redemption if needed. 

 

Drawdown: All at closing. Please specify any escrow and 

requisition requirements associated with bond 

proceeds. 

 

Bank Closing Costs: None anticipated to be paid by the County.

 Please specify any exceptions. 

 

Annual Bank Fees: None anticipated to be paid by the County.

 Please specify any exceptions. 

 

Opinion(s) of Counsel: Bond Counsel to VASAVES/VRA, a n d  the County 

Attorney/Bond Counsel to the County will provide 

the necessary opinion(s). 

 

Bond Documents: Bond Counsel to VASAVES/VRA,  

 and t h e  C o u n t y  A t t o r n e y / B o n d  

C o u n s e l  t o  t h e  C o u n t y  will provide the 

necessary bond documents. 

 

On-going Disclosure: The County will provide annual audited financial 

statements.  Please specify any additional 

requirements. 

 

Direct Bank Loan: Proposals are requested for a direct bank loan  

 evidenced by the Taxable 2017 Bond, by a single  

 financial institution or a syndicate of financial  

 institutions represented by one lead institution with  



 which the County and their consultants will deal  

 with exclusively on all aspects of the financing. The  

 successful bidder(s) will be expected to provide a  

 letter in form satisfactory to the County and its Bond  

 Counsel regarding the qualifications of the buyer and  

 stating that the Bond is being purchased for its own  

 account as evidence of the loan and with no  

 intention of sale or distribution. No formal  

 offering document will be prepared, although bidders  

 should feel free to direct any questions about the  

 County or its finances to the undersigned. 

 

Award: The County Board of Supervisors will make the 

formal award. The County reserves the right to 

reject any or all proposals and to waive any 

irregularity or informality. 

 

Closing: Closing is expected to take place during the week 

of F e b r u a r y  1 6 ,  2017. 

 

Additionally, please specify any other terms or conditions that would impact the 

proposed structure of the financing agreement.  

Preliminary Timetable: 

Date Action 

December, 2016 County distributes RFP 

January 11, 2017 Proposals due to County, 12:00 pm, EST 

February, 2017 County Board Meeting to select winning proposal 

 County considers adoption of approving resolution(s) 

February, 2017 School Board Meeting 

 School Board considers adoption of approving  

 Resolutions 

February, 2017 Close on bank loan 

 

We look forward to your response by 12:00 pm, EST on January 11, 2017. In 

the meantime, should you have any further questions or concerns please feel free 

to call 2 7 6 - 8 8 9 - 8 0 0 0 .  

 

Sincerely, 

 

Lonzo Lester 

County Administrator 

 



 

cc: 

Stephen Breeding, Chairman, Russell County Board of Supervisors 

Peter D’Alema, Virginia Resources Authority 

Greg Montgomery, Managing Director, CleanSource Capital, Administrator of VA 

SAVES 

Don Ramey, Chairman, Russell County Schoolboard  

Gregory A. Brown, Superintendent, Russell County Schools 

Ben Chafin, Esq., Counsel, Russell County Schoolboard 

 

 

  

 

 











 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                          
 

QECB Financing Proposal For  

Russell County and Russell County Board  

of Supervisors, VA  

January 30, 2017 

  

 

Bank of America has increased its 

current environmental business 

initiative from $50 billion to $125 

billion in low-carbon business by 

2025 through lending, investing, 

capital raising, advisory services 

and developing financing solutions 

for clients around the world. Bank 

of America has provided more than 

$39 billion in financing for low-

carbon activities since 2007. 

 



Holly Andreozzi  
Senior Vice President 
Energy Services 
 
 

 

January 30, 2017 
 
 

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 
Mr. Lonzo Lester 
County Administrator 
Russell County, Virginia 
 
Re:  $5,637,000 Taxable Direct Pay Qualified Energy Conservation Bond Issue

 
Dear Mr. Lester: 
 

Thank you for the opportunity
financing of the above Qualifie
Russell County  (the “County”
of America Leasing & Capital, LLC 
provide our taxable QECB equipment 
efficiency transaction. 

 
 BALC and our non-bank qualified financing subsidiary, Banc of
Corp (“BAPCC”) offers unique financing features and qualifications that can be leveraged on 
behalf of the County and the Board 
smooth and efficient manner.   These feature
 

1. TAX-EXEMPT PRIVATE PLACEMENT EXPERIENCE
leading provider
local government
markets.  Our team
exempt and taxable QECB 

2. ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
Services group is a leading provider of financial solutions for energy efficien
renewable energy, 
as such we have experience in working with 
including Trane;

3. PRIVATE PLACEMENT BENEFITS:
placement that will not require (i) any additional public ongoing disclosure 
requirements, (ii) any additional public offering document generation 
requirements, or (iii) any underwriting or related fees

This cover letter and term sheet include only 
proposed transaction.  Please understand that this proposal is not a commitment or offer to lend, 
and does not create any obligation f
BAPCC, and/or Bank of America, N

 
 
 
Banc of America Public Capital Corp

100 Federal street  
Boston, MA 02110 
Holly.Andreozzi@baml.co
Tel:  (617) 434-7760 

   

ble Direct Pay Qualified Energy Conservation Bond Issue 

Thank you for the opportunity to present to you the attached terms and conditions for the 
Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds (the “Bonds” or “QECB”

”) and Russell County Public Schools (the “ School Board”)
ng & Capital, LLC (“BALC” or “Lender”) looks forward to the opportunity to 

equipment finance services for this important energy and cost saving 

bank qualified financing subsidiary, Banc of America Public Capital 
unique financing features and qualifications that can be leveraged on 

and the Board to complete this transaction at a low interest cost and in a 
smooth and efficient manner.   These features and qualifications include:  

EXEMPT PRIVATE PLACEMENT EXPERIENCE: BAPCC/BALC
leading providers of private placement capital to the state government, 
local government, K-12, housing authority, and higher education ta

ur teams are highly experienced in documenting and closing tax
and taxable QECB  private placement transactions;   

ENERGY EFFICIENCY FINANCING EXPERIENCE: BAPCC’s Energy 
group is a leading provider of financial solutions for energy efficien

renewable energy, water system, and energy generation equipment and assets; and 
as such we have experience in working with many energy services companies

Trane;  

PRIVATE PLACEMENT BENEFITS:  The proposed transaction is a private 
at will not require (i) any additional public ongoing disclosure 

requirements, (ii) any additional public offering document generation 
requirements, or (iii) any underwriting or related fees; and 

This cover letter and term sheet include only a brief description of the principa
proposed transaction.  Please understand that this proposal is not a commitment or offer to lend, 
and does not create any obligation for Lender, BAPCC, or Bank of America, N.A.

and/or Bank of America, N.A. will not be responsible or liable for any damages, 

Banc of America Public Capital Corp 

Holly.Andreozzi@baml.com 

 

to present to you the attached terms and conditions for the 
or “QECB”) for 

Board”).  Banc 
forward to the opportunity to 

energy and cost saving 

America Public Capital 
unique financing features and qualifications that can be leveraged on 

at a low interest cost and in a 

BAPCC/BALC are 
state government, municipal 

and higher education tax-exempt 
ng and closing tax-

BAPCC’s Energy 
group is a leading provider of financial solutions for energy efficiency, 

and energy generation equipment and assets; and 
gy services companies, 

The proposed transaction is a private 
at will not require (i) any additional public ongoing disclosure 

requirements, (ii) any additional public offering document generation 

ption of the principal terms of the 
proposed transaction.  Please understand that this proposal is not a commitment or offer to lend, 

Bank of America, N.A..   Lender, 
will not be responsible or liable for any damages, 



consequential or otherwise, that may be incurred or alleged by any person or entity, including 
Borrower, as a result of this letter.  Lender will notify you in writing of its decision if Lender 
agrees to proceed with the proposed transaction after completing its review and analysis.   

  
This proposal must be accepted within seven business days after the approving resolutions have 
been adopted by the County Board and School Board meetings. To accept this Proposal, please 
sign the enclosed copy of this Proposal Letter and return it to my attention at 
holly.andreozzi@baml.com or  fax it to me at 404.532.3026.  Thank you for allowing us the 
opportunity to prepare this proposal for the County and the School Board. We look forward to the 
opportunity to work with you and t on this important transaction. 

   
     Very truly yours, 

      
     Banc of America Public Capital Corp 

 
     Holly Andreozzi 

Senior Vice President of BAPCC and  
Authorized Agent of BALC 

      
The undersigned, by its authorized representative below, accepts the above proposal, agrees to furnish 
Lender, its successors and assigns, any information relating to the business or financial condition of 
Borrower or its affiliates, and authorizes Lender, Bank of America Corporation and their affiliates to 
disclose to, discuss with and distribute such information (and any information they may already have) to 
any other affiliates or proposed assignees or successors of Lender. 
 
AGREED AND ACCEPTED: 
 
Russell County and Russell County Public Schools 
 
By:                       
   
Title:           
         
Date:           
 
Tax IDs:       
 
 
 

 
 

“Bank of America Merrill Lynch” is the marketing name for the global banking and global markets businesses of Bank of America 
Corporation. Lending, derivatives, leasing, equipment finance, and other commercial banking activities are performed globally by 
banking affiliates of Bank of America Corporation, including Bank of America, N.A., Member FDIC. Securities, strategic advisory, and 
other investment banking activities are performed globally by investment banking affiliates of Bank of America Corporation (“Investment 
Banking Affiliates”), including, in the United States, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and Merrill Lynch Professional 
Clearing Corp., both of which are registered broker-dealers and Members of SIPC, and, in other jurisdictions, by locally registered 
entities.  Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and Merrill Lynch Professional Clearing Corp. are registered as 
futures commission merchants with the CFTC and are members of the NFA. BAPCC is not a municipal advisor and is not subject to 
the fiduciary duty established in Section 15B(c)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with respect to any municipal 
financial product or issuance of municipal securities. The information provided in this document is not intended to be and should not be 
construed as “advice” with the meaning Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the municipal advisor rules of the SEC. 
Investment products offered by Investment Banking Affiliates: Are Not FDIC Insured � May Lose Value � Are Not Bank Guaranteed. 
©2016 Bank of America Corporation 
 

 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

SUMMARY OF TERMS 

I.  Borrower and Lender - Introduction
 
Issuer: Virginia Resources Authority (“VRA”)
 
Co –Lessees/ 
Borrower: Russell
  
Lender: For a taxable, direct pay, QECB transaction:

& Capital, LLC, or its affiliate or designee
 
 Contact

Holly Andreozzi
Senior Vice President
100 Federal Street
Boston, MA 02110
Holly.Andreozzi@baml.com
 
Address for

Attn:  Contracts Administration
 11333 McCormick Road
 Hunt Valley II
 Mail Code:  MD5
 Hunt Valley, MD  21031
 

Lender Background:  
Commitment to energy efficiency and the environment
America is
have a positive impact on the environment.  Attached please find a 
summary of some of our import
the following website contains a link to our corpo
progress report:
 
http://environment.bankofamerica.com/?cm_mmc=ENT
EF01VN0002_environment

 
Financial prof
the nation’s largest financial holding companies.  Our annual report can 
be found on the following internet link:   
 
http://investor.bankofamerica.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=71595&p=irol
reportsannual

 
Both Banc of America Public Capital Corp (“BAPCC”) and Banc
America Leasing & Capital, LLC (“
subsidiaries of Bank of America, N.A. the 2nd 

SUMMARY OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

Introduction 

Virginia Resources Authority (“VRA”) 

Russell County, VA and Russell County Public Schools  

For a taxable, direct pay, QECB transaction:  Banc of America Leasing 
& Capital, LLC, or its affiliate or designee (“BALC”) 

Contact: 

Holly Andreozzi 
Senior Vice President 
100 Federal Street 
Boston, MA 02110 
Holly.Andreozzi@baml.com 

Address for documents: 

Attn:  Contracts Administration 
11333 McCormick Road 
Hunt Valley II 
Mail Code:  MD5-032-07-05 
Hunt Valley, MD  21031 

Commitment to energy efficiency and the environment
America is a proud supporter of energy efficiency and initiatives that 
have a positive impact on the environment.  Attached please find a 
summary of some of our important environmental announcements, and 
the following website contains a link to our corporate environmental 
progress report: 

http://environment.bankofamerica.com/?cm_mmc=ENT-Funded-
EF01VN0002_environment-_-NA 

Financial profile and strength:  As mentioned, Bank of America is one of 
the nation’s largest financial holding companies.  Our annual report can 
be found on the following internet link:    

http://investor.bankofamerica.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=71595&p=irol
reportsannual 

Both Banc of America Public Capital Corp (“BAPCC”) and Banc
America Leasing & Capital, LLC (“BALC”) are wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of Bank of America, N.A. the 2nd largest bank in the United 

Banc of America Leasing 

Commitment to energy efficiency and the environment:  Bank of 
a proud supporter of energy efficiency and initiatives that 

have a positive impact on the environment.  Attached please find a 
ant environmental announcements, and 

rate environmental 

-_-vanity-_-

As mentioned, Bank of America is one of 
the nation’s largest financial holding companies.  Our annual report can 

http://investor.bankofamerica.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=71595&p=irol-

Both Banc of America Public Capital Corp (“BAPCC”) and Banc of 
owned 

largest bank in the United 



States with more than $1+ trillion in assets. Bank of America has been in 
business since 1928.   

 
BALC is a full-service leasing and equipment financial solutions 
provider that structures, invests and distributes equipment-financing 
products.  As the nation's largest bank-owned leasing company, BALC 
has a strong presence in both international and domestic markets.  BALC 
has a strong presence in both the domestic and international markets with 
approximately 900 associates in 52 offices worldwide. Our team includes 
associates with a wide range of skills and expertise, including 
originators, debt and equity syndicators, pricing specialists, accountants, 
tax specialists, attorneys, equipment appraisers, credit analysts, portfolio 
managers, and contract administrators. These professionals ensure that 
our clients receive the soundest advice, the most competitive solutions, 
and the best execution available in the market. 

 
BAPCC’s Energy Services team was started in 2006 and has  a dedicated 
team in funding transactions for energy efficiency and renewable energy 
projects that benefit clients throughout the country.  BAPCC originates 
approximately $1 billion annually of energy efficiency and renewable 
energy projects.   

 
Virginia Experience:  BAPCC has been funding energy performance 
contracts in Virginia since 2006.  We have financed the 
Commonwealth’s master lease program at various points, and have 
recently been awarded its $40 million master lease program for 2016.  
Recent VA transactions include Newport News Schools, Southampton 
County Schools, and Orange County Schools. 

 

We are active purchasers of QECBs for our portfolio.   The interest rate 
on the QECBs is typically set through a direct purchase agreement at the 
same time locking in the tax-credit rate.    We finance projects both 
directly with borrowers, and also through conduit issuers. We 
financed the initial VA SAVES QECB with Pittsylvania County. 
 
Our transaction sizes range from $2 million to $100 million.  On 
occasion, we have financed projects under $2 million as well. Financing 
terms can range up to 20 years depending upon the estimated useful life 
of the project and credit of the borrower. 

 
 

II.  Structure, Project Description 
 

Purpose: The purpose of this transaction is to provide financing to the Co-Lessees 
for the installation and acquisition of certain energy improvements 
(collectively, the “Equipment”) for the County’s schools under an energy 
performance contract with Trane (the “Vendor”). 

 
Structure: This transaction will be structured as a taxable direct pay QECB 

Revenue Bond Issue (the “Bonds”) between the Lender and the VRA. 
The VRA’s obligations are limited obligations payable solely from the 
payments made by the Co-Lessees under a Financing Lease between the 
Co-Lessees and the VRA (the “Lease”). Repayments under the Lease 
shall be absolute and unconditional, subject only to annual appropriation 



of funds by the County’s governing body and in accordance with the 
laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Lease will be a net 
financial lease, and all expenses, including but not limited to insurance, 
maintenance, and taxes, will be for the account of County. 

 
Security: Upon acceptance of the Equipment, title to the Equipment shall be vested 

in the School Board.  The School Board’s obligations under the Lease 
shall be secured by, among other things, a first priority security interest 
in the Equipment, evidenced by the filing of UCC financing and fixture 
filing statements – thus legal property descriptions will be needed for the 

project facilities.  At maturity of the Lease, upon payment of all 
outstanding amounts under the Lease, Lender’s security interest in the 
Equipment shall be released and Board shall retain the Equipment.  
Board shall be required to maintain the Equipment free and clear of other 
liens, to insure the Equipment (public liability and property damage 
insurance), to promptly repair or replace any damaged or destroyed 
Equipment and to pay any applicable taxes. 

Approximate  
Proceeds: $5,637,000     
     

III. Funding, Interest Rate, Closing 
 

 
Funding: Proceeds from the Bonds will be deposited into an escrow fund (“Escrow 

Fund”) acceptable to Lender.  Borrower will be required to direct 
investments in the Escrow Fund and any interest earned will be for the 
benefit of Borrower.  Disbursements will be made from the Escrow Fund 
to pay for project costs upon delivery by Borrower of a disbursement 
request and related documents and approval by Lender.  The Escrow 
Fund is subject to compliance by Borrower with all applicable 
regulations under the Internal Revenue Code, including but not limited to 
arbitrage reporting.  So long as the Escrow Fund investments are from 

the Escrow Agent’s standard investments for governmental entities, there 

will not be an escrow fee.  

 
Anticipated 
Escrow Agent: Bank of America, National Association.   
 
Payments:   Please see the attached draft amortization schedule. 
 
Closing Date: Closing is expected in February on a mutually acceptable date.  (The rate 

has been held for 45 days from the date of this proposal to allow for an 
early March closing, if extra time is needed).   Purely for purposes of this 
proposal, funding was calculated to be February 16, 2017.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Indicative 
Fixed  
Interest Rate: Taxable Direct Pay QECB (prior to subsidy):  4.53% 
  
 The calculation for the Indicative Fixed Interest Rate above is: 
 
 12-Yr Bloomberg Treasury SWAP Rate* + Applicable Spread Below:  
 

Swap Swap Indicative
Term Rate * Spread Rate

12 2.47% 2.06% 4.53%  
 
 * As of January 30, 2017, the 12-yr Treasury Interest Rate SWAP as 

reported by Bloomberg. 
 
Rate Lock  
Procedure: If this proposal is signed and returned to Lender within (7) business days 

after approving resolutions have been adopted at the County Board 
meeting and School Board meeting: 

 
 The above taxable, direct pay QECB rate of 4.53% will be fixed and held 

firm for 45 days from the date of this proposal.  If closing occurs after 45 
days from the date of this proposal, the interest rate will be set 15 days 
prior to closing. The tax credit rate will be locked in with the execution 
of a Bond Purchase Agreement. 

 
 PLEASE BE ADVISED THAT THE PROPOSED INDICATIVE PRICING 

INDEX SET FORTH ABOVE IS ONLY AVAILABLE FOR A 
TRANSACTION THAT IS FULLY FUNDED OR FOR SPECIFIC 
EQUIPMENT THAT HAS COMMENCED FUNDING UNDER A QECB 
PURSUANT TO THIS PROPOSAL WITHIN 90 DAYS.  THEREAFTER, 
LENDER MAY AT ITS DISCRETION ADJUST ITS PRICING TO REFLECT 
ADVERSE CHANGES IN ITS COST OF FUNDS OR CHANGES 
GENERALLY IN MARKET CREDIT MARGINS.  

 
PLEASE NOTE THAT THE PRICING AND RATE ABOVE ARE BASED ON 
THE AVERAGE LIFE OF THE ATTACHED DRAFT AMORTIZATION 
SCHEDULE.  TO THE EXTEXT THAT THE AVERAGE LIFE OF THE 
FINAL SELECTED AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE CHANGES FROM THE 
ATTACHED, THE RESPECTIVE RATE ABOVE IS SUBJECT TO 
MODIFCATION BY LENDER TO ACCOUNT FOR ANY LENGTHENING 
OF THE AVERAGE LIFE OF THE FINAL SCHEDULE. 

 
Closing Costs: Issuer and Borrower will be responsible for its own closing costs, 

including its own legal costs for providing a legal/validity AND QECB 
eligibility opinions for the transaction.  Issuer and Borrower may include 
legal and financing costs in the transaction amount up to 2% of proceeds 
(per tax regulations).  Borrower will be responsible for Lender’s legal 
fees which will be capped at $7,500.  This assumes that Lender’s 
Counsel is not providing any legal opinions on behalf of the Borrower. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

IV. Prepayment and Other Terms 
 
Prepayment: With 30 days advance notice, Borrower will have the option to prepay 

the Lease in whole but NOT part on any payment date by paying the 
applicable Purchase Price which shall be calculated as 102% of the 
outstanding principal balance of the transaction. 

   
Documents: All transaction documents are subject to review and approval by Lender.  
 
Opinion of 
Counsel: See Closing Costs above. 
 
QECB  
Obligation:  The Bond payments have been calculated on the following assumptions 

and representations by Issuer and Borrower that Issuer and Borrower: 
 

1. are a state or political subdivision of a state within the meaning of 
Section 103(c) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) and 
duly created and validly existing under the laws of 
Commonwealth of Virginia; 

 
2. are authorized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

to enter into the Bonds and the transactions contemplated thereby 
and to perform all of Issuer’s obligations thereunder; and 

 
3. have duly authorized the execution and delivery of the Bonds 

(Financing Lease) under the terms of a resolution of its governing 
body or by other appropriate official approval, and all 
requirements and procedures have been satisfied in order to 
ensure the enforceability of the Bonds (and Financing Lease), and 
Issuer and Borrower have complied with all applicable public 
bidding requirements. 

 
Lender is not responsible or liable for the loss or reduction of the QECB 
direct pay subsidy. 

 
Final Approval: This proposal and the terms set forth herein are an indication of interest in 

the transaction, and are not and should not be construed as a commitment 
nor obligation of Lender or its affiliates to provide any financing.  The 
proposed transaction and the terms set forth herein are subject to all 
credit, risk, documentation and legal approvals of Lender as well as 
execution and delivery of documentation acceptable to all parties.  All 
disbursements are subject to no material adverse change in the financial 
condition of Borrower. 

 
Assignment: Without prior consent of Borrower, Lender shall be entitled to assign its 

right, title and interest in the Bonds and leased equipment on a private 
placement basis to qualified purchasers.  In addition, Lender shall be 



entitled to assign its right, title and interest in the Bonds to a trustee for 
the purpose of issuing certificates of participation or other forms of 
certificates evidencing an undivided interest in such Bonds, provided 
such certificates are sold only on a private placement basis (and not 
pursuant to any “public offering”) to a purchaser(s) who represent that 
(I) such purchaser has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial 
and business matters to be able to evaluate the risks and merits of the 
investment (ii) such purchaser understands neither the Bonds or 
certificates will be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, (iii) such 
purchaser is either an “accredited investor” within the meaning of 
Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, or a qualified 
institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A, and (iv) that it is 
the intention of such purchaser to acquire such certificates (A) for 
investment for its own account or (B) for resale in a transaction exempt 
from registration under the Securities Act of 1933.  At any time, Lender 
may sell, assign or encumber all or any part of its right title and interest 
in the Bonds; however, in no event shall the Lender assign this 
agreement as a public offer of participation.  Borrower consents to a 
private placement transaction within the meaning of applicable federal 
securities laws.   

 
Proposal Expiration 
Date: This proposal must be accepted within ten (10) business days to be valid.  
 
Payment and  
Performance  
Bonds: The Lessor requires to be listed as dual obligee on the payment and 

performance bonds provided by the Vendor.  No payments to the Vendor 
will be permitted until such bonds are in place. 

 
Market 
Disruption: NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING CONTAINED HEREIN TO THE 

CONTRARY, IN THE EVENT ANY MATERIAL CHANGE SHALL 
OCCUR IN THE FINANCIAL MARKETS AFTER THE DATE OF 
THIS PROPOSAL LETTER, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO 
ANY GOVERNMENTAL ACTION OR OTHER EVENT WHICH 
MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECTS THE EXTENSION OF 
CREDIT BY BANKS, LEASING COMPANIES OR OTHER 
LENDING INSTITUTIONS, LENDER MAY MODIFY THE INDEX 
PRICING DESCRIBED ABOVE. 

 
USA Patriot Act 
Compliance:        The Lessee acknowledges that pursuant to the requirements of the USA 

Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 
2001)) (the "Patriot Act"), the Lessor is required to obtain, verify and 
record information that identifies the Lessee, which information includes 
the name and address of the Lessee and other information that will allow 
the Lessor to identify the Lessee in accordance with the Patriot Act. 

 

Questions: Please contact Lender with any questions you may have regarding this 
proposal. 

 



 

 
 
 
 

Standard Disclosures and Disclaimers 
 
The transaction described in this document is an arm’s length, commercial transaction between 
you and Banc of America Public Capital Corp (“BAPCC”) and its affiliate, Banc of America  
Leasing & Capital, LLC (“BALC”) in which: (i) BAPCC and BALC are each acting solely as a  
principal (i.e., as a lender) and for its own interest; (ii) neither BAPCC nor BALC is not acting as 
a municipal advisor or financial advisor to you; (iii) neither BAPCC nor BALC  have no fiduciary 
duty pursuant to Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to you  with respect to this 
transaction and the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading thereto (irrespective of 
whether BAPCC, BALC or any of its affiliates has provided other services or is currently 
providing other services to you on other matters); (iv) the only obligations BAPCC and BALC 
have to you with respect to this transaction are set forth in the definitive transaction  agreements 
between us; and (v) neither BAPCC nor BALC are recommending that you take  an action with 
respect to the transaction described in this document, and before taking any action with respect to 
the this transaction, you should discuss the information contained herein with your own legal, 
accounting, tax, financial and other advisors, as you deem appropriate.  If you would like a 
municipal advisor in this transaction that has legal fiduciary duties to you, you are free to engage 
a municipal advisor to serve in that capacity. 
 
This proposal is submitted in response to your Request for Proposal.  The contents of this 
proposal and any subsequent discussions between us, including any and all information, 
recommendations, opinions indicative pricing, quotations and analysis with respect to any  
municipal financial product or issuance of municipal securities, are provided to you in reliance on 
the exemption provided for responses to requests for proposals or qualifications under the 
municipal advisor rules (the “Rules”) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (240 CFR 
15Ba1-1 et seq.). 

The Staff of the SEC’s Office of Municipal Securities has issued guidance which provides that, in 
order for a request for proposals to be consistent with this exemption, it must (a) identify a 
particular objective, (b) be open for not more than a reasonable period of time (up to six months 
being generally considered as reasonable), and (c) involve a competitive process (such as by 
being provided to at least three reasonably competitive market participants) or by being publicly 
posted to your official website.  In submitting this proposal, we have relied upon your compliance 
with this guidance. 

In submitting this proposal, we are not undertaking to act as a “municipal advisor” to you or any 
other person within the meaning of the Rules.  In connection with this proposal and the 
transactions described herein, we are not subject to, and we hereby disclaim, any fiduciary duty to 
you or to any other person.  We understand that you will consult with and rely on the advice of 
your own municipal, financial, tax, legal and other advisors as and to the extent you deem 
necessary in connection with your evaluation of this proposal and the transactions described 
herein. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

Draft Amortization Schedule – Taxable Direct Pay QECB 
 
 

Par Amount of QECBs 5,637,000.00    

Taxable QECBs Interest Rate 4.53%

Federal Tax Credit Rate (as of 01/30/2017) 4.54%
70% Federal Tax Credit Rate 3.18%

Net Effective Rate 1.35%

Final Maturity (yrs.) 19.63                
Average Life (yrs.) 11.43                
Closing/Funding Date 2/16/17

Taxable Taxable Taxable Taxable Treasury Net Payment
Pmt. Year Payment Payment Interest Principal Outstanding Subsidy After
No. No. Date Amount Portion Portion Balance Amount Subsidy

1 1 10/1/2017 371,815.23       159,597.56       212,217.67       5,424,782.33     104,351.30          267,463.93           
2 2 10/1/2018 426,955.34       245,742.64       181,212.70       5,243,569.63     160,676.41          266,278.93           
3 3 10/1/2019 430,667.01       237,533.70       193,133.31       5,050,436.32     155,309.08          275,357.93           
4 4 10/1/2020 434,299.60       228,784.77       205,514.84       4,844,921.48     149,588.67          284,710.93           
5 5 10/1/2021 437,844.47       219,474.94       218,369.52       4,626,551.96     143,501.54          294,342.93           
6 6 10/1/2022 441,297.59       209,582.80       231,714.79       4,394,837.17     137,033.66          304,263.93           
7 7 10/1/2023 444,652.44       199,086.12       245,566.31       4,149,270.86     130,170.51          314,481.93           
8 8 10/1/2024 447,905.02       187,961.97       259,943.05       3,889,327.81     122,897.09          325,007.93           
9 9 10/1/2025 451,047.78       176,186.55       274,861.23       3,614,466.58     115,197.84          335,849.93           

10 10 10/1/2026 454,072.67       163,735.34       290,337.34       3,324,129.24     107,056.74          347,015.93           
11 11 10/1/2027 410,689.18       150,583.05       260,106.13       3,064,023.11     98,457.25           312,231.93           
12 12 10/1/2028 413,444.11       138,800.25       274,643.86       2,789,379.25     90,753.18           322,690.93           
13 13 10/1/2029 416,080.44       126,358.88       289,721.56       2,499,657.68     82,618.51           333,461.93           
14 14 10/1/2030 418,594.19       113,234.49       305,359.70       2,194,297.98     74,037.26           344,556.93           
15 15 10/1/2031 420,977.76       99,401.70         321,576.06       1,872,721.93     64,992.82           355,984.93           
16 16 10/1/2032 423,223.01       84,834.30         338,388.70       1,534,333.22     55,468.08           367,754.93           
17 17 10/1/2033 425,324.29       69,505.29         355,818.99       1,178,514.23     45,445.35           379,878.93           
18 18 10/1/2034 427,273.30       53,386.69         373,886.60       804,627.63        34,906.37           392,366.93           
19 19 10/1/2035 429,061.17       36,449.63         392,611.53       412,016.09        23,832.23           405,228.93           
20 20 10/1/2036 430,680.42       18,664.33         412,016.09       -                     12,203.49           418,476.93           

10/1/2036 8,555,905.02    2,918,905.02    5,637,000.00     1,908,497.38       6,647,407.65        

 
 

  



Sample Cash Flow 
Year Savings M&V Available Debt Service Net Savings

1 303,833.00     -              303,833.00     267,463.93     36,369.07       

2 312,948.00     10,300.00   302,648.00     266,278.93     36,369.07       

3 322,336.00     10,609.00   311,727.00     275,357.93     36,369.07       

4 332,007.00     10,927.00   321,080.00     284,710.93     36,369.07       

5 341,967.00     11,255.00   330,712.00     294,342.93     36,369.07       

6 352,226.00     11,593.00   340,633.00     304,263.93     36,369.07       

7 362,792.00     11,941.00   350,851.00     314,481.93     36,369.07       

8 373,676.00     12,299.00   361,377.00     325,007.93     36,369.07       

9 384,887.00     12,668.00   372,219.00     335,849.93     36,369.07       

10 396,433.00     13,048.00   383,385.00     347,015.93     36,369.07       

11 362,040.00     13,439.00   348,601.00     312,231.93     36,369.07       

12 372,902.00     13,842.00   359,060.00     322,690.93     36,369.07       

13 384,089.00     14,258.00   369,831.00     333,461.93     36,369.07       

14 395,611.00     14,685.00   380,926.00     344,556.93     36,369.07       

15 407,480.00     15,126.00   392,354.00     355,984.93     36,369.07       

16 419,704.00     15,580.00   404,124.00     367,754.93     36,369.07       

17 432,295.00     16,047.00   416,248.00     379,878.93     36,369.07       

18 445,264.00     16,528.00   428,736.00     392,366.93     36,369.07       

19 458,622.00     17,024.00   441,598.00     405,228.93     36,369.07       

20 472,381.00     17,535.00   454,846.00     418,476.93     36,369.07       

7,633,493.00  258,704.00 7,374,789.00  6,647,407.65  727,381.35      
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

Board of Supervisors  Action Item D-1 – D-7 

137 Highland Drive Presenter: Administrator 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

Meeting: 2/6/17    6:00 PM 
 
 

 

 
 

County Administrator Reports & Requests 

The County Administrator Reports & Request for February 2017: 
 
REPORTS 

 
1. 2017 Richmond Legislative Meeting  

 
2. NACO State of County Finances Report 

 
3. VA Auditor of Public Accounts Report of RC Clerk of the Circuit Court 

 
REQUESTS 

  
4. Authorization of Property Transfer from RC School Board of the Elk  

            Garden and Cleveland Elementary Schools to the Board of Supervisors 
 

5. Authorization of the Violence Against Women’s Act 
 

6. Authorization for Public Hearing of the RC Junkyard Ordinance 
 

7. Authorization of Travel Request 
 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s): 

Board Discretion.  
 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 

Board Discretion.  
 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

 Various 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



THE STATE OF COUNTY FINANCES
PROGRESS THROUGH ADVERSITY

County governments provide essential services to create healthy, safe, vibrant and economically resilient communities. 
The Great Recession and the slow recovery affected both the county economies and the fiscal conditions of county 
governments.1 Building upon the foundation laid by NACo’s Counting Money study on county financial reporting, this 
analysis examines trends in annual county revenues and expenses between 
2007 and 2013, the latest year available for the majority of audited county 
financial statements.2 Using the fiscal data from the largest group of county 
governments reporting their financials in the same format (2,112 counties in 45 
states and the District of Columbia), this report sheds light on the effect of the 
recession on counties and provides direction on the fiscal recovery of county 
governments.3 The evidence suggests:

GENERAL REVENUE RECOVERY HAS BEEN SLOW AND 
UNEVEN ACROSS COUNTIES. 

General revenues did not recover to 2007 
levels in nearly half of counties (46 percent) 
by 2013, taking into account inflation. 
General revenues are discretionary funding, 
providing county boards the flexibility for 
allocating funds to needed services. This 
source of funding is primarily derived from 
taxes, fees and fines and any grants not 
restricted to a particular activity.4

The recovery has been uneven across 
counties. Overall, Western region counties 
recorded the most improvement through 
2013, with 59 percent bouncing back to 
pre-recession levels (Figure 1). Backed by 
economies benefiting from rising oil and 
gas production between 2007 and 2013, 
the majority of counties in states such as 
North Dakota, South Dakota and Texas 
recorded higher general revenues in 2013 

NACo TRENDS ANALYSIS PAPER SERIES, ISSUE 6 • OCTOBER 2016 • www.NACo.orgDR. EMILIA ISTRATE AND DANIEL HANDY

TO ACCESS THE COMPANION INTERACTIVE MAPS, KEY TERMS, 
METHODOLOGY AND MORE, GO TO WWW.NACo.ORG/COUNTYFINANCE

25 MASSACHUSETTS AVE, NW • SUITE 500 • WASHINGTON, DC 20001 
202.393.6226 • www.naco.org

48% 52% 56%54%50% 58% 60%

Share of Counties

West

South

Northeast

Midwest

Source: NACo analysis of data from the statement of activities in 2007 and 2013 audited county financial statements

FIGURE 1: THE RECOVERY HAS BEEN UNEVEN ACROSS COUNTIES

Share of Counties with 2013 General Revenues Above 2007 Level, 
Inflation-Adjusted

GENERAL REVENUES 

DID NOT RECOVER 
TO 2007 LEVELS IN 

NEARLY HALF  
OF COUNTIES 
BY 2013.



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 2

THE STATE OF COUNTY FINANCES
PROGRESS THROUGH ADVERSITY

compared to six years before. 
In contrast, Southern counties 
were still reeling from the effects 
of the recession in 2013, with 
almost half of them below 2007 
levels. Large counties (those 
with populations higher than 
500,000) were affected the 
most, with more than two thirds 
not yet at pre-recession levels.

County Property Taxes
Share of General Revenue, 2013

25% 50% 72% 90%

Map 1: Property Taxes are the Main Source  
of General Funding for Counties

County Property Taxes, Share of General Revenues, 2013

Note: The counties marked in grey fit into one of the following categories: do not have county governments, do not report their financials with basic financial statements 
or their statements of activities for 2007 and/or 2013 were not available. For more on the methodology, see the Methodological Appendix and the report Counting 
Money: State and GASB Standards for County Financial Reporting.

Source: NACo analysis of data from the statement of activities from the 2007 and 2013 audited county financial statements 

OF COUNTY 
GENERAL REVENUES 
ARE GENERATED BY 
PROPERTY TAXES.72%



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 3

Property tax revenues drove the performance of county general funding. In 2013, property taxes comprised 
72 percent of county general revenues (Map 1).5 Property tax collections lag price movements in the real 
estate market because of the variety of assessment cycles around the country.6 For example, South Carolina 
requires counties to conduct a reassessment every five years, while Michigan mandates annual assessments.7 
As a result, real estate market peaks precede peaks in property assessments and tax collections, sometimes 
by several years. The timing of the property assessment may mitigate 
or magnify the negative impact of real estate price decline on property 
tax collections. At the same time, rapid real estate price increases do 
not fully translate into increases in county property tax revenues due to 
various state limits on property tax increases.8 Forty-one (41) states had 
at least one type of limitation on county capacity to raise property taxes.

The recession and slow recovery suppressed consumer spending and 
sales tax revenues. Two-thirds of counties that collected sales taxes in 
2007 saw their revenues from this source of funding decline by 2013. 
Not all states allow counties to collect sales taxes: of the 29 states 
granting counties this authority, counties in 19 states won voter approval 
to introduce local sales taxes. For example, in many Louisiana parishes 
and counties in New York and Ohio, sales and use taxes represented 
about 26 to 48 percent of county general revenues in 2013.

COUNTIES ARE STRUGGLING WITH RISING COSTS OF MANDATED SERVICES. 

For governments, economic downturns translate into less revenue and higher volumes of services, 
as they try to deal with unemployment, business closures and more people in need. This fiscal 

squeeze is even more pronounced for county governments, being primary social safety net providers on 
the ground. With the economic recovery slow to take hold across counties, county governments struggle 
to meet state and federal mandates while serving their residents at adequate levels.9 

Nearly half of counties (48 percent) recorded overall 2013 expenses above their 2007 levels, even when 
adjusted for inflation (Map 2).10 Over one fifth of parishes in Louisiana and counties in North Dakota, Utah 
and West Virginia experienced expense increases of more than 30 percent. Pressure increased on small 
counties (those with less than 50,000 residents), with about 55 percent registering expense increases. In 
some counties, expenses more than quadrupled in six years (in Dunn County, ND and Mountrail County, ND). 

At the core of the recession, 
large counties (those with 
populations higher than 
500,000) were more likely to 
record lower expenses. Only 
35 percent recorded expenses 
rising over the six-year period 
analyzed.

65% 
OF COUNTIES 
COLLECTING SALES 
TAXES RECORDED 
DECLINES IN THIS 
REVENUE SOURCE 
BETWEEN 2007 
AND 2013.

OF COUNTIES RECORDED 
OVERALL 2013 EXPENSES 
ABOVE THEIR 2007 LEVELS.48%



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 4

THE STATE OF COUNTY FINANCES
PROGRESS THROUGH ADVERSITY

County Expenses Growth Rate
Inflation Adjusted, 2007 - 2013

-25% 0% 25% 100%

Map 2: Counties Recorded Widespread Rising Expenses
Growth Rate of County Expenses, Inflation-Adjusted, 2007-2013

Note: The counties marked in grey in fit into one of the following categories: do not have county governments, do not report their financials with basic financial 
statements or their statements of activities for 2007 and/or 2013 were not available. For more on the methodology, see the Methodological Appendix and the report 
Counting Money: State and GASB Standards for County Financial Reporting.

Source: NACo analysis of data from the statement of activities in 2007 and 2013 audited county financial statements 

Many mandated services saw widespread cost increases. 

Justice and public safety county costs rose across the country. Two thirds of counties (65 percent) 
witnessed increases in justice and public safety expenses between 2007 and 2013, above the overall rise 
in prices (Map 3).11 In many cases, justice and public safety expenses were the top cause of the increase in 
overall expenses. Alaska boroughs and counties in North Dakota and West Virginia had the highest surges 
of justice and public safety costs between 2007 and 2013. Counties are the first respondents in case of 
disaster: they operate 911 centers, run the sheriff departments and the county courts and operate and 
maintain county jails. Justice and public safety costs vary widely among counties, but typically account for 
27 percent of county expenses. For more than a fifth of Georgia and Texas counties and over 80 percent 
of Maine counties, justice and public safety is a majority of county expenses.



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 5

Justice and Public Safety Expenses Growth Rate
Inflation Adjusted, 2007 - 2013

-10% 0% 10% 50%

Map 3: Justice and Public Safety Expenses Increased  
in Most Counties

Growth Rate of Justice and Public Safety County Expenses,  
Inflation-Adjusted, 2007-2013

Note: The counties marked in grey fit into one of the following categories: do not have county governments, do not report their financials with basic financial statements 
or their statements of activities for 2007 and/or 2013 were not available. For more on the methodology, see the Methodological Appendix and the report Counting 
Money: State and GASB Standards for County Financial Reporting.

Source: NACo analysis of data from the statement of activities in 2007 and 2013 audited county financial statements 

Provision of community health and human services is another core function for counties. In general, 
these costs comprised 11 percent of county expenses in 2013, before significant implementation of the 
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act — commonly referred to as the Affordable Care Act (ACA). 

OF COUNTIES WITNESSED INCREASES IN 
JUSTICE AND PUBLIC SAFETY EXPENSES 
ABOVE THE OVERALL RISE IN PRICES 
BETWEEN 2007 AND 2013.65%



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 6

THE STATE OF COUNTY FINANCES
PROGRESS THROUGH ADVERSITY

These costs exceeded 40 percent of 
expenses for a majority of counties 
in California, New Hampshire and 
New York. As administrative arms of 
state governments, counties serve 
as a safety net for low-income 
residents and their investment 
supports education, job training, 
childcare and housing, among many 
other programs that reach county 
residents of all ages. In addition, 

counties provide hospital care for individuals without any health insurance or ability to pay and they invest 
in health services for residents including health departments, hospitals, clinical care and behavioral care 
units. Between 2007 and 2013, 36 percent of counties were coping with increases in health and human 
services costs above overall inflation. Small counties (with less than 50,000 residents) were more likely 
to experience these increases. Health and human service costs in the majority of counties in Colorado, 
Louisiana, Montana, North Dakota and Texas grew faster than overall inflation. 

Transportation and infrastructure are core responsibilities for many counties, often mandated by the state. 
Counties cover the entire gamut of infrastructure services, including owning and maintaining roads and 
bridges, providing public transportation, owning and operating airports and seaports, handling water supply, 
diverting storm water and waste management. Most often, transportation and infrastructure represent 
about 16 percent of total expenses for a county, but exceed one third of expenses for a majority of counties 
in Alabama, Delaware, Iowa and North Dakota. Between 2007 and 2013, transportation expenses rose faster 
than the inflation rate in more than half (54 percent) of counties; likewise, water, sewage and solid waste 
costs rises exceeded overall 
price changes in 44 percent of 
counties. Small counties (with 
less than 50,000 residents) were 
more likely to see an escalation 
in transportation expenditures. 
Transportation expenses rose 
the most in North Dakota 
counties, driven by oil and gas 
production needs.

The rising costs of mandated services drive up the expenses for operating county governments. General 
government activities are essential services, either mandated by the state (such as assessing property 
values, issuing birth certificates and marriage licenses or collecting property taxes for schools, cities and 
others) or necessary to operate an organization (having a finance department, for example). As a result 
of the increasing needs of residents and the pressure to meet state and federal mandates, the general 
government expenses rose above inflation in about half (51 percent) of counties between 2007 and 2013. 
Counties are struggling to fund mandated and vital services, while maintaining a high level of service 
quality for residents.

36% OF COUNTIES 
WERE COPING WITH RISES IN THEIR 
HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 
COSTS ABOVE OVERALL INFLATION 
BETWEEN 2007 AND 2013.

THE MAJORITY OF COUNTIES  
WITNESSED TRANSPORTATION EXPENSES 
RISING FASTER THAN INFLATION 
BETWEEN 2007 AND 2013.



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 7

STATE AND FEDERAL FUNDING IS INCREASINGLY INSUFFICIENT TO COVER FOR 
MANDATED COUNTY SERVICES. 

No two counties are the same. Most often, states decide the role, structure and responsibilities for 
counties. As a result, counties differ in regards to the type and volume of services provided to residents. 
Counties are governed by locally elected officials and, in some instances, operate under home rule 
authority, which allows for more local flexibility and control with structural, functional and fiscal powers. 
Even within a state, counties vary in terms of services, depending on the availability of services from other 
levels of government, population size and density and extent of federal lands. 

County Expenses vs.  
Dedicated Grant Funding Growth

2007 - 2013

Map 4: Dedicated Grants Cover a Smaller Share of County Expenses
The Growth Rate of County Expenses Relative to Dedicated Grants, 

Inflation-Adjusted, 2007-2013

Note: The counties marked in grey fit into one of the following categories: do not have county governments, do not report their financials with basic financial statements 
or their statements of activities for 2007 and/or 2013 were not available. For more on the methodology, see the Methodological Appendix and the report Counting 
Money: State and GASB Standards for County Financial Reporting.

Source: NACo analysis of data from the statement of activities in 2007 and 2013 audited county financial statements 

Growing Faster

Declining More

Growing Slower

Declining Less



55% 
OF COUNTIES HAVE 
GENERAL REVENUES 
PAYING A LARGER 
SHARE OF EXPENSES.

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 8

THE STATE OF COUNTY FINANCES
PROGRESS THROUGH ADVERSITY

Many county services are mandated by the states or the federal government. State and federal governments 
provide different levels of funding to counties to pay for mandated services, frequently in the form of 
earmarked grants for operational expenses or capital expenditures of specific activities. Most often, about 
93 percent of the state and federal funding used by a county is restricted to specific functions (called 
“dedicated grants” in this study); the remainder is part of general revenues.12 

Dedicated grants funded a smaller share of county expenses in the majority of counties (59 percent), as a 
result of expense growth in excess of the increase in dedicated grants or costs declining less than funding 
from dedicated grants between 2007 and 2013 (Map 4). A majority of counties in states such as Florida and 
Tennessee recorded drops in the share of their expenses covered by dedicated grants.

The decline in earmarked state and federal grants affected county services to varying degrees. For the 
majority of counties, dedicated grants covered the highest proportion of costs for transportation, at 43 
percent of operational expenses and capital expenditures in 2013. In contrast, earmarked grants funded 
about 30 percent of county health and human services and 7 percent of justice and public safety. By 2013, 
dedicated grants funding covered a smaller percentage of expenses for both justice and public safety 
and community health and human services than six years before. 
A majority of counties in Virginia experienced declines in dedicated 
grants for justice and public safety relative to their restricted 
expenses between 2007 and 2013.

Counties fund mandated services more and more with general 
revenues and charges to compensate for declining coverage by 
state and federal funding. By 2013, general revenues funded 62.5 
percent of county expenses, an increase of 1.5 percentage points in 
the funding share from the prior six years. The majority of counties 
(55 percent) experienced this trend. In states such as Wisconsin, 
Ohio, Iowa and Pennsylvania, more than 80 percent of counties 
funded a greater percentage of county expenses through general 
revenues compared to 2007 (Figure 2).

OF COUNTIES RECORDED DEDICATED 
GRANTS COVERING A SMALLER 
PERCENT OF COUNTY EXPENSES  
IN 2013 COMPARED TO 2007.59%



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 9

Charges, such as water rates, are user fees paid for a specific service and are restricted to fund expenses 
related only to that service. Most often, they cover about 18 percent of county expenses, mainly expenses 
for utilities and water, sewerage and solid waste. Between 2007 and 2013, charges revenues funded a 
higher proportion of county expenses in 45 percent of counties. In some counties, raising user charges is 
limited by the state. For example, in Iowa, county fees are established by the state legislature and counties 
do not have the statutory authority to raise them. Service charges are not an option for many counties, as 
these fees may also be established by the state legislature and counties may not the statutory authority to 
raise them either. Almost two thirds of counties in North Carolina, Ohio and Tennessee are relying more 
on service charge revenues to fund their expenses. This trend is most evident in large counties (those with 
populations higher than 500,000), with 56 percent of them covering more of their county expenses with 
revenues from service charges.

Notes: Large counties have more than 500,000 residents; small counties have less than 50,000; and mid-sized counties are in between, based on 2015 U.S. Census Bureau 
population estimates. For more on the methodology, see the Methodological Appendix and the report Counting Money: State and GASB Standards for County Financial Reporting.

Source: NACo analysis of data from the statement of activities in 2007 and 2013 audited county financial statements 

FIGURE 2: GENERAL REVENUES FUND A LARGER SHARE OF COUNTY EXPENSES

Percent of Counties with Rising Shares of County Expenses Funded by General Revenues,  
Inflation-Adjusted, 2007-2013

0% 20% 40%30%10% 60%50% 70% 80%

West

South

Northeast

Midwest

Total

Small

Mid-sized

Large



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 10

THE STATE OF COUNTY FINANCES
PROGRESS THROUGH ADVERSITY

The recession and slow recovery affected counties’ bottom 
line. Fewer counties could cover all their expenses in 2013 
relative to before the recession. In 2007, 82 percent of 
counties achieved an annual surplus (positive change in net 
position), but by 2013 only 71 percent did so. The ending 
balances were also lower in 2013. Forty (40) percent of 
counties had lower ending balances, with the largest 
concentration in the Northeast. 

Counties face a constrained fiscal environment that affects 
county services and residents. In light of declining federal 
and state aid, counties increasingly need to find other 
sources of funding to cover for increased expenses. Six years 
after the start of the Great Recession, general revenues in 

many counties were either still declining or just slowly coming back. Further, state limitations on counties’ 
capacities to raise revenues through taxes and charges impede the recovery of general revenues. In a 
follow-up study, NACo will explore the constrained fiscal environment many counties face due to the 
proliferation of state and federal mandates to counties, coupled with state limitations on counties’ abilities 
to raise revenues.  The study will also provide insight into the solutions and innovations that help counties 
to maintain quality services for residents.

40%
OF COUNTIES HAD LOWER 
ENDING BALANCES SIX 
YEARS AFTER THE START 
OF THE GREAT RECESSION.



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES October 2016 page 11

ENDNOTES
1  For more on the state of county economies, see Emilia Istrate and Brian Knudsen, County Economies 2015-Opportunities and 
Challenges, NACo Trends Analysis Paper Series, Issue 5, 2016.

2  For a detailed explanation of financial terms, how counties report their financials, variations around the country and methods of 
accounting, see Istrate et al. Counting Money: State and GASB Standards for County Financial Reporting, NACo Policy Research 
Paper Series, Issue 4, 2016.

3  This report examines data from the statement of activities from the audited county financial statements of 2,112 counties 
reporting basic financial statements (85 percent of all counties with basic financial statements). The data refer to the primary county 
government expenses and revenues and do not include the financials of county dependents (component units). All the growth rates 
reported in this study are inflation-adjusted, using the state and local price index for government consumption expenditures and 
gross investment from the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. For more on the methodology, see the Methodological Appendix and 
the report Counting Money: State and GASB Standards for County Financial Reporting. 

4  General revenues data analyzed in this study do not include investment income and revenues for sales of assets.

5  Property tax revenues are not limited to residential property, but extends to any type of property from which the county collects 
property taxes. 

6  This study does not examine any changes in property tax rates, because the data from the statement of activities do not provide 
this piece of information.

7  Justin Higginbottom, State Provisions for Property Reassessment,  
http://taxfoundation.org/article/state-provisions-property-reassessment 

8  See the case with Proposition 13 in California- “California Counties: Rising Costs and Caps on Revenue Capacity” in Istrate et 
al.,”The Road Ahead: County Transportation Funding and Financing,” NACo Policy Research Paper Series, Issue 2, 2014.

9  For more on the state of county economies, see Emilia Istrate and Brian Knudsen, County Economies 2015. 

10  County expenses are primary government expenses, including expenses for governmental activities and business-type activities. 

11  Justice and public safety expenses include expenses related to sheriff, police and related services (impound, task forces, general 
law enforcement and patrol); emergency management and medical services; 911 communications; fire protection; detention 
centers and related commissaries, stores and inmate services. Also included in this class are judicial functions: judges; attorneys; 
prosecutors; justices; court clerks; probate courts; courthouses; warrant services and law libraries.

12  Dedicated grants include county operating grants and contributions and capital grants and contributions. County expenses are 
primary government expenses, including expenses for governmental activities and business-type activities.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
Within the National Association of Counties, the authors would like to thank Michael Belarmino, Matt Chase, 
Joel Griffith, and Kathy Nothstine for their helpful comments and contributions.  For their substantive 
comments on a draft of the report, the authors thank Emily S. Brock, Director, Federal Liaison Office of 
the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA); Veronica Ferguson, County Administrator, Sonoma 
County, Calif., and President-elect of the National Association of County Administrators (NACA); David 
Douglas Lasher, County Treasurer, Clark County, Wash., and National Association of County Collectors, 
Treasurers and Finance Officers (NACCTFO) representative on NACo Board of Directors; William R. 
Peterson, Robin Harlow and Lucas Beenken from the Iowa State Association of Counties (ISAC).  We are 
indebted to Tadas Pack for his assistance along every step of the way from data collection through analysis. 
A big thanks goes to all the interns who collected the audited county financial statements over the years, 
without which this research would not have been possible. The authors also express their appreciation to 
their Public Affairs colleagues for the graphic design, the interactive maps and the website of the report.

http://taxfoundation.org/article/state-provisions-property-reassessment


TO ACCESS THE COMPANION INTERACTIVE MAPS, KEY TERMS, 
METHODOLOGY AND MORE, GO TO WWW.NACo.ORG/COUNTYFINANCE

25 MASSACHUSETTS AVE, NW • SUITE 500 • WASHINGTON, DC 20001 
202.393.6226 • www.naco.org

ABOUT NACo
The National Association of Counties (NACo) unites America’s 3,069 county governments.  Founded 
in 1935, NACo brings county officials together to advocate with a collective voice on national policy, 
exchange ideas and build new leadership skills, pursue transformational county solutions, enrich the 
public’s understanding of county government and exercise exemplary leadership in public service.  

Mission
Through NACo, county officials:

• Advocate with a collective voice on national policy

• Exchange ideas and build new leadership skills

• Pursue transformational, cost-effective solutions

• Enrich the public’s understanding of county government, and

• Exercise exemplary leadership in public service.

Vision
Healthy, vibrant and safe counties across the United States.

Dr. Emilia Istrate 
Director of Research and Outreach 
research@naco.org

Daniel Handy 
Research Assistant 
research@naco.org

FOR MORE  
INFORMATION,  
CONTACT:



 

www.apa.virginia.gov | (804) 225‐3350 | reports@apa.virginia.gov 

 
  December 12, 2016 
 
 
The Honorable Ann S. McReynolds   
Clerk of the Circuit Court   
County of Russell 
 
Steve Breeding, Board Chairman 
County of Russell 
 

Audit Period:   January 1, 2015 through September 30, 2016   
Court System: County of Russell 
 
 

We have audited the cash receipts and disbursements of the Clerk of the Circuit Court for this 
locality.  Our primary objectives were to test the accuracy of financial transactions recorded on the 
Court’s financial management system; evaluate the Court’s internal controls; and test its compliance 
with significant state laws, regulations, and policies.   
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 

Court management has responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls and 
complying with applicable  laws and regulations.    Internal control  is a process designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness 
and efficiency of operations, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.  Deficiencies in 
internal controls could possibly lead to the loss of revenues or assets, or otherwise compromise fiscal 
accountability. 
 

We  noted  no matters  involving  internal  control  and  its  operation  necessary  to  bring  to 
management’s attention. 
 

We acknowledge the cooperation extended to us by the Court during this engagement.   
   

     
  AUDITOR OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 
 
MSM:alh 
 
cc:  The Honorable Jack S. Hurley, Jr., Chief Judge 
  Lonzo Lester, County Administrator 
  Paul F. DeLosh, Director of Judicial Services 
     Supreme Court of Virginia 
  Director, Admin and Public Records 
     Department of Accounts 













































Page | 1 
 

RUSSELL COUNTY JUNK YARD ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE REGULATING JUNK DEALERS, THE ESTABLISHMENT AND 

MAINTENANCE OF JUNKYARDS, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO AUTOMOBILE 

JUNKYARDS, THE STORAGE AND DISPOSAL OF SCRAP, REFUSE, AND JUNK ARTICLES, 

PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF LICENES FOR JUNK DEALERS AND FOR THE 

MAINTENANCE AND OPERATION OF JUNKYARDS UNDER PRESCRIBED CONDITION, 

PRESCRIBING REMEDIES FOR THE PRESCRIBING PENALTIES FOR VIOLATORS, AND 

PROVIDING FOR THE REVOCATION OF LICENSES IN THE EVENT OF NON-

COMPLIANCE. 

 

Section 1:    Short-Title.  This ordinance shall be known and may be cited as "Russell County Junkyard 

and Refuse and Ordinance". 

Section 2:    Definitions.  "Unless otherwise expressly stated, the following words and phrases shall be 

construed throughout this ordinance to have the meanings herein indicated: 

 a. Person.  Shall include any partnership, association, firm, corporation, or individual. 

 b.   Board.  Shall mean the Board of Supervisors of Russell County. 

 c. Junk.  Shall mean old or scrap copper, brass, rope, rags, batteries, paper, trash, rubber,  

  automobiles or parts thereof, iron, steel, and other old or scrap ferrous or non-ferrous  

  material.   

 d.   Junk Yard.  Shall mean an establishment or place of business which is maintained,  

  operated or used for storing, keeping, buying, or selling junk or operation of an   

  automobile graveyard, and the term shall include garbage dumps and sanitary fills. 

 e.   Automobile graveyards.  Shall mean any lot or place which is exposed to the weather  

  and upon which more than five motor vehicles of any kind, incapable of being operated, 

  and which it would not be economically practical to make operative, are place, located  

  or found. 

 f. Junk Dealer.  Shall mean any person, as hereinafter defined  (1) who shall engage in the  

  business of buying, selling, storing, salvaging, processing, disposing of, or accumulating  

  junk, and (20 who maintains and operates a junkyard within the County of Russell. 

 g. License.  Shall mean the permit granted to a junk dealer. 



Page | 2 
 

Section 3.   License.  No person shall engage in business as a junk dealer, or maintain a junk yard, or 

automobile grave yard, without first having obtained a license from the Board, for which license a fee in 

accordance with the schedule hereinafter set forth shall be paid to Russell County.  The license shall be 

issued for the twelve month period beginning July 1 and ending June 30 of the following year, and each 

license must be renewed annually or before the first day of July of each year. 

 Such license shall state the name of the person to who such license is issued and the premises 

on which such junkyard is to be maintained. Such license shall be posted conspicuously upon the 

premises licensed thereunder. 

Section 4.   Application for License.   

Application for the license described above shall be made by the person desiring to be licensed.  Said 

application shall be in writing and shall include the following information: 

 (1)  name, address and telephone of applicant; 

 (2)  specific location and description of proposed junkyard site; 

 (3)  a map of site showing boundaries and dimensions, natural drainage and any proposed  

       changes in that drainage, and adjacent landowners. 

Section 5.   Issuance of Licenses.  the Planning Commission shall make a thorough initial examination of 

the application, taking into consideration the suitability of the property proposed to be used for the 

purposes of the license, the character of the property located nearby, and the effect of the proposed 

use, both economic and aesthetic,  The Planning Commission shall make a report of its findings to the 

Board of Supervisors may issue a license subject to such additional terms and conditions, in addition to 

the regulations contained herein and adopted pursuant to this ordinance, as may be deemed necessary 

by the Board to carry out the spirit and intent of this ordinance. 

Section 6:   Review.  In cases where the board of supervisors (hereafter "Board") shall issue a denial of a 

license the Applicant shall have a right of review of the decision as set forth hereafter 

Section 6 (a).    Informal Fact Finding.  The Applicant may within ten (10) days file a written request of 

informal fact finding.  The board or its appointed agent shall schedule a hearing date within twenty (20) 

days of the request for informal fact finding.  Such informal fact finding conference - consultation shall 

include the right of parties tot eh case (i) to have reasonable notice thereof, (ii) to appear in person or 

by counsel or other qualified representative before the board or its' subordinates for the informal 

presentation of factual data, argument, or proof in connection with any case, (iii) to have notice of any 

contrary fact basis or information in the possession of the Planning Commission upon which the  

board may rely in any way in making an adverse decision, (iv) to receive a decision within ten (10) days 

of the date of hearing of any application for a license or renewal thereof and(v) to be informed, briefly 

and generally in writing of the factual or procedural basis for an adverse decision in any case. 

 



Page | 3 
 

Section 6 (b).    Formal Proceedings. 

 A.  In the event the Applicant receives an adverse decision based upon the informal fact finding, 

he may, within ten (10) days of the date of said adverse decision file a request for formal proceeding 

with the County Administrator.  The County Administrator shall immediately notify the Board of the 

request for said formal proceeding. 

 B.  The Board shall afford an opportunity for the formal taking of evidence upon relevant fact 

issues in any case in which an adverse decision has been made. 

 C.  Parties to such formal proceedings shall be given reasonable notice of (i) the time, place, and 

nature thereof, (ii) the basic law or laws under which the Board contemplates its' possible exercise of 

authority, and (iii) the matters of fact and law asserted or questioned by the Planning Commission. 

 D.  In all such formal proceedings the parties shall be entitled to be accompanied by and 

represented by counsel, to submit oral and documentary evidence and rebuttal proofs, to conduct such 

cross-examination as may illicit a full and fair disclosure of the facts, and to have the proceedings 

completed and a decision made within ten (10) days of the date of hearing.  The burden of proof shall be 

upon the Proponent or Applicant.  The Board, or its subordinates designated for the purpose, shall 

preside at the taking of evidence.  The presiding officer at such proceedings are empowered to (i) 

administer oaths and affirmations, (ii) receive probative evidence, exclude relevant, immaterial, 

insubstantial, privileged, or repetitive proofs, rebuttal, or cross-examination, rule upon offers of proof 

and oversee an accurate verbatim recording of the evidence, (iii) hold conferences for the settlement or 

simplification of issues by consent, (iv) dispose of procedural requests, and (v) regulate and expedite the 

course of hearing.  Where subordinates preside, they shall recommend findings in a decision, unless the 

Board shall, by its procedural regulations, provide for the making of findings and an initial decision by 

such presiding officers subject to review and reconsideration of the Board on appeal to it as of right or 

on its own motion. 

 E.  Prior to the recommendations or decision of subordinates, the parties concerned shall be 

given opportunity, on request, to submit in writing, for the record, (i) proposed findings and conclusions 

and (ii) statement of reasons therefore,  In all cases, on request, opportunities shall be afforded for oral 

argument, (i) to subordinate presiding officers in all case in which they make such recommendations or 

decisions or (ii) through the Board in cases in which it makes the o4riginial decision without such prior 

recommendations or decisions, the Board shall receive and act on exceptions thereto. 

 F.  All decisions or recommended decisions shall be served upon the parties, become a part of 

the record, and briefly state or recommend the findings, conclusions, reasons or basis therefore upon 

the evidence presented by the record and relevant to the basic law under which the Planning 

Commission is operating together with an appropriate order granting the license or denial thereof. 

Section 6(c).    Written Notices.  All notices of review and all orders of the Board shall be served upon the 

designated party by certified mail, unless service otherwise made is duly acknowledged by the party 

receiving same writing. 



Page | 4 
 

Section 6 (d).    Court Review.   Any person effected by or any party aggrieved by a decision of the Board 

shall have a right to the direct court review thereof by an appropriate and timely court action against 

the Board in the manner provided by the rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia.  Provided, however, 

that no such right of review shall be brought, unless within twenty-one (210 days of the date of the 

decision appealed from, there is instituted an action for the review of same in the appropriate court. 

Section 7.    License Fee.  The license fee shall be paid immediately upon the issuance or renewal of a 

license to the Russell County Board of supervisors.  The amount of the license fee shall be ONE 

HUNDRED ($100.00) dollars.  No tract of land larger than twenty (20) acres, excluding setback areas, 

shall be used as a junkyard. 

Section 8.    License Limitation.  No person licensed under this ordinance shall, by virtue of one license, 

maintain more than one junkyard.  No person shall engage in business as a junk dealer in any place 

other than the place designated upon his license, or maintain a junkyard in any place other than the 

place designated upon his license. 

Section 9.    Transfer of License.  No license issued by the Board shall be transferable by the licensee to 

any other person unless such a transfer is authorized by the Board.  Any person desiring to transfer his 

license shall notify the Board in writing, which notification shall be accompanied by an application for 

license, as described in Section 4 of this ordinance, by the transferee. 

Section 10.    Transfer Fee.  In the event the Board shall approve the transfer of a license, the transferee 

shall immediately pay to the Russell County board of Supervisors a transfer fee of one ($100) dollars.  

Licenses do not run with the land. 

Section 11.    Inspection.  Upon presentation of proper identification to the owner or custodian of a 

junkyard as defined herein the Board of Supervisors or their duly authorized representative, the County 

Sanitation Officer, may periodically inspect any licensed junkyard; any junkyard for which there has been 

made an application for a license; or any junkyard as defined herein for which no application for license 

has been made.  The purpose of said inspection is to determine initial and continual compliance with the 

Regulations of this Ordinance. 

Section 12.    Regulations.  Every person licensed under this ordinance shall constantly maintain the 

licensed premises in accordance with any special provisions imposed by the Board and in the manner 

prescribed by this section and any subsequent regulations adopted by the Board; 

  a.  Such premises shall at all times be maintained so as not to constitute a nuisance 

   or a menace to the health of the community or of residents nearby or a place  

   for the breeding of rodents and vermin. 

  b.   No garbage or other organic waste shall be stored in such premises. 

  c. Whenever any motor vehicle shall be received in such premises as junk, all  

   gasoline shall be drained and removed therefrom.  Gasoline is an amount not  

   exceeding five hundred (500) gallons may be stored above ground in said junk  



Page | 5 
 

   yards provided the same be placed in containers approved by the board.  All  

   other gasoline which is kept in the premises shall be stored underground, which  

   underground storage must be approved by the Board. 

  d. The manner of storage and arrangement of junk, and the drainage facilities of  

   the premises shall be such as to prevent the accumulation of stagnant water  

   upon the premises, and to facilitate access for fire-fighting purposes. 

  e. It shall be unlawful for any person licensed under this ordinance to burn junk  

   within a junkyard at any time except in the manner approved by the Virginia Air  

   Pollution Control Board.  However, no oil, grease, tires, gasoline or other similar 

   material that might dangerous or tend to produce obnoxious smoke or odors  

   shall be burned within a junkyard at any time. 

  f. The premises to be licensed shall be set back a minimum distance of fifty (50)  

   feet from the right -of-way lines on all streets or roads and a minimum distance  

   of fifty (50) from all other property lines.  The area between the setback line and 

   the right-of-way line and all streets and roads and all other property lines, shall  

   be at all times, kept clear and vacant. 

  g. No junkyard shall be hereafter established, any portion of which is within one  

   thousand feet of the nearest edge of the right-of-way of any primary highway or 

   within five hundred feet of the nearest edge of the right-of-way of any other  

   highway or city street, except the following: 

   (1)    Junkyards which are screened by natural objects, plantings, fences, or  

   other appropriate means so as not to be visible from the main-traveled way of  

   the highway or city street or otherwise removed from sight. 

   (2)    Junkyards which are located in areas which are zoned for industrial use  

   under authority of State law or in unzone industrial areas as determined by the  

   rules and regulations of the State Highway Commission. 

   (3)   Junkyards which are not visible from the main-traveled way of the highway  

   or city street. 

  h.   Each license holder must keep an accurate log book in which each purchase or  

   sale of junk is recorded, and such book shall be subject to inspection, all as  

   provided in Virginia Code §54-832 (1980 supp.). 

Section 13.    Violations.   Any person who shall fail to obtain a license as required above shall be subject 

to a penalty of fifty ($50) dollars.  For any other violation of any of the provisions of this ordinance, 

penalty shall be fixed upon conviction, in an amount not to exceed one hundred ($100) dollars and the 

costs of prosecution.  Each day's violation of any of the provisions of this ordinance shall constitute a 

separate offense.  Violators will be prosecuted in the General District Court of Russell County. 



Page | 6 
 

Section 14.    Conformity.  Any junkyard, as defined herein, in existence on July 1, 1981, which is 

unlicensed, shall have ninety (90) days from a final determination made by the board pursuant to 

paragraph 6 above that it is subject to being licensed, to conform to this ordinance.  Any junkyard, as 

defined herein, which came into existence after July 1, 1981, and which cannot be made to conform to 

this ordinance, it declared to be a private and public nuisance any be forthwith removed, obliterated or 

abated by the Board of supervisors or it's representatives.  The Board of Supervisors may collect the cost 

of such removal, obliteration or abatement from the person owning or operating such junkyard and the 

costs of same shall be a lien against the property until the same is satisfied in full. 

Section 15.    Abatement of Nuisances.  In addition to the remedies provided in Section 12 above, any 

continued violation of this ordinance which shall constitute a nuisance in fact or which shall in the 

opinion of the Board constitute a nuisance may be abated by proceeding against the violator in a court 

of equity for relief. 

Section 16.    Severability.  If any section of this ordinance shall be found to be invalid the other sections 

of the ordinance shall not be affected thereby. 

Section 17.    Repeal.   All ordinances or parts of ordinance in conflict herewith be and same are hereby 

repealed. 

Section 18.    Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective ____________. 







































































 

 
 

                 BENEFITS AND VALUE TO RUSSELL COUNTY 

                                                                             2016 TOTALS   

     

  
JAIL COST 
SAVINGS 

  BENEFITS 

Community Work Program Jail Savings  $70, 667.52    

   (2,629 days x $26.88 per day)     

Community Work Program Labor for County    $73,921.00  

(10,196 hours x $7.25 per hour)     

 2016 CWP fees paid ($25 per month)   $1,095.00  

Drug Court Jail Savings  $93,112.32    

(3,464 days x $26.88 per day)     

Drug Court Labor for County    $11,157.75  

(1,539 hours x $7.25 per hour)     

  $163,779.84  $86,173.75  

Total Savings and Benefits to Russell County   $249,953.59 

      

           Drug Court totals are from January 1, 2016-December 31, 2016 

           Community Work Program totals are from August 1, 2016-December 31, 2016 

 

     

The two CWP workers in this photo have 
cleaned over 18 miles of river banks from Old 
Castlewood to Burton’s Ford, as well as 
cleaning the river bed. Over 600 tires, 500 
large bags of small items and approximately 
1,000 pounds of larger items have been 
removed from the river.  Frank Kilgore has 
trained the workers for this work, and we plan 
to expand this project in the spring and have 
a crew cleaning the entire river.  We will use 
the trained CWP workers to teach additional 

workers how to complete this task! 
 
 
 

RUSSELL COUNTY 

COMMUNITY WORK PROGRAM 

QUARTERLY REPORT 
 

JANUARY 16, 2017 

Photo: CWP workers with Worksite Supervisor, Frank Kilgore and PC Carter 

 



 
  

Russell County Sheriff’s Office Litter Pick-Up Program 
On August 1, 2016, the CWP teamed up with the RCSO to do our part in 
keeping Russell County’s highways clean.  This was nothing new for 
RCSO, but it was a huge leap of faith to change how they were doing 
things and work with our participants.  No one knew how things were going 
to work out, but this has proven to be a great advantage for the CWP.  We 
feel that having daily presence by the Deputies working with our work 
crews, is a huge part of our success thus far.  The CWP workers have 
picked up 9,998 bags of litter, walking 407.3 miles of highway, from   
August 1 – December 31.  We are PROUD to be a part of the RCSO Litter 
Pick-Up Program and appreciated the continued support from the Sheriff’s 
Office! 
 

Some of our recent CWP Projects: 
 

 Removed/installed new flooring at the Russell County Conference Center 

 Completed major painting project for the Historical Society, painting the old 
courthouse, house and museum 

 Completed several painting projects at SVCC  

 Assisted with the construction of the new welcome sign 

 Currently building display cases at St. Paul Regional Museum 

 Completed a clean-up project at The Pinnacle Natural Area Preserve  

 Renovations in Commonwealth’s Attorney’s Office 

 Provided landscaping services for the Russell County Library 

 Assisting in cleaning of County Offices and Courthouse 

 Completed several painting projects at the Russell County Library 

 Continued cleanups at the County Convenience Stations and Landfill 

Members of the Russell County Drug Court Team traveled to 

Galena, Missouri, to participate in the National Drug Court Institute’s 

Mentor Court Program.  This is the first phase of NDCI’s Operational 

Tune-Up Training that our team will be hosting this spring, at no cost 

to the County.  This training will assist the Drug Court Team in 

staying up to date with the most effective procedures for operations.  

Our Drug Court Program saved Russell County $93,112.32 in jail 

costs during 2016, while guiding participants to live sober, productive 

lives.  This year, our Drug Court Team provided services to 22 drug 

addicted probationers, who would have otherwise been 

incarcerated.  These 22 participants have a total of 32 children, 

whose lives are all directly affected by our Drug Court Program.  

       
 
 
______________________________ 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For more information, please contact: 
 

Missy R. Carter 
Program Coordinator 
889-8158 or 254-1420 

missy.carter@russellcountyva.us  

 
 

 

              RUSSELL COUNTY DRUG COURT 

 
“The Russell County Community 
Work Program has been a huge 

success because of the 
cooperation of multiple agencies.  
The Board of Supervisors had the 
foresight to invest in this program.  
The Commonwealth’s Attorney’s 
Office was willing to consider new 

alternatives, and the Sheriff’s 
Office and probation have been 

key players.  It is a great example 
of how we solve problems in 

Russell County.” 
 
 

The Honorable Michael L. Moore 
Russell County Circuit Court Judge 

mailto:missy.carter@russellcountyva.us


G E T  Y O U R  T A X E S
D O N E  F O R  F R E E !

IRS-certified volunteers will  help you receive the maximum tax refund

and help determine if  you are eligible for the earned income tax credit.

If  you or your family earned less than $54,000 in 2016, you may qualify

for this free service.

A V A I L A B L E  J A N U A R Y  2 8  -  A P R I L  1 5 ,  2 0 1 7

 Free Tax Preparation

Free e-Fil ing

Free Printed Copy

Please bring the following items:
Photo ID. For married fi l ing joint,  both spouses

must be present

Social Security cards or Taxpayer

Identif ication Number (ITIN) 

All  income statements: W-2, W-P, W-2G &

1099, etc. for you and all  dependents

Voided check for direct deposit

Expense documents: dependent care,

education-related expenses, home mortgage

interest payments

Total paid to daycare provider and their tax ID

number

Proof of health insurance coverage, i .e.  form

1095A, insurance card,  Medicare or Medicaid

card

A copy of last year 's tax return

Location

SWCC Lebanon Center for

Education and Training

141 Highland Drive

Lebanon, VA 24641

Tuesdays 10 a.m.- 2 p.m.


